# **Digital CAREC**

# Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap

# PHASE 1

March 2022







# Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap Phase 1

Asif Razzaq Tofig Babayev Mumtaz Ahmed Shokhrukh Avazov Qaisar Abbas Tumurpurev Dulambazar

March 2022

#### Disclaimer

The CAREC Institute and the Islamic Development Bank (IsDB) do not guarantee the accuracy of any information or data included in this publication. This publication is provided without any warranty or indemnity of any kind whatsoever, either express or implied. Therefore, the CAREC Institute and IsDB accept no liability or responsibility for any party's use of this publication or for the consequences of any party's reliance on the information or data provided herein.

Neither this publication nor any party's use thereof and/or reliance on the information or data contained therein shall constitute or be considered an express or implied limitation upon or waiver of the privileges and immunities of the CAREC Institute and IsDB, all of which are specifically reserved.

The designations mentioned and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion by the CAREC Institute and IsDB concerning the legal status of any country, territory, area or city or the legitimacy of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of the frontiers or boundaries of any such country, territory, area or city. Reference to a particular territory or geographic area, using the term "country" in this publication does not necessarily imply official endorsement or acceptance thereof by the CAREC Institute and IsDB nor do the CAREC Institute and IsDB intend to make any judgement as to the legal or other status of any country, territory, area or city mentioned in this publication.

This report is available under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 IGO license (CC BY 3.0 IGO) <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo/</u>. By using the content of this publication, you agree to be bound by the terms of this license. This CC license does not apply to other copyright materials in this paper. If the material is attributed to another source, please contact the copyright owner or publisher of that source for permission to reproduce it. The CAREC Institute cannot be held liable for any claims that arise as a result of your use of the material.

For additional queries, contact rd@carecinstitute.org

### List of Abbreviations

ADB	Asian Development Bank
AI	artificial intelligence
CAREC	Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation
CDDI	Composite Digital Divide Index
CI	CAREC Institute
EaP	Eastern Partnership
EU	European Union
FDI	foreign direct investment
GDP	gross domestic product
GNI	gross national income
ICT	information and communication technology
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank
IsDB	Islamic Development Bank
LDC	least developed country
LLDC	landlocked developing country
MB	mobile broadband
MSME	micro, small and medium-size enterprise
OEC	Observatory of Economic Complexity
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
PCA	principal component analysis
SDG	sustainable development goal
SIDS	small island developing state
SME	small and medium-size enterprise
TORs	terms of reference
UN	United Nations
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
UN DESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UPU	Universal Postal Union
WEF	World Economic Forum

### List of Tables

TABLE 1: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF AFGHANISTAN	3
TABLE 2: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF AZERBAIJAN	5
TABLE 3: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF KYRGYZSTAN	5
TABLE 4: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF PAKISTAN	6
TABLE 5: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF TAJIKISTAN	7
TABLE 6: MAIN DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS OF UZBEKISTAN	8
TABLE 7: SUMMARY OF REPORTS ON DIGITAL DIVIDE	13
TABLE 8: SUMMARY OF ARTICLES ON DIGITAL DIVIDE	15
TABLE 9: LIST OF INTERVIEWED ORGANIZATIONS	20
TABLE 10: ASSESSMENT CRITERION FOR INDICATORS	
TABLE 11: ASSESSMENT OF COUNTRIES BASED ON INDICATORS	
TABLE 12: COUNTRY RESULTS OF EACH SUBINDICATOR OF DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE	
TABLE 13: COUNTRY RESULTS OF EACH SUBINDICATOR OF DIGITAL PAYMENTS	
TABLE 14: COUNTRY RESULTS OF EACH SUBINDICATOR OF E-COMMERCE	
TABLE 15: COUNTRY RESULTS OF EACH SUBINDICATOR OF INTERNET ACCESS	
TABLE 16: LIST OF DIMENSIONS OF THE DIGITAL DIVIDE INDEX	35
TABLE 17: ASSESSMENT CRITERION FOR INDICATORS PCA	
TABLE 18: RESULTS OF PCA INDICES WITHOUT NORMALIZATION	
TABLE 19: RESULTS OF PCA INDICES NORMALIZED (0-1 AND 0-100)	39
TABLE 20: CORRELATION MATRIX OF SUBINDICES WITH COMPOSITE INDEX (CDDI)	40
TABLE 21: SUMMARY OF PCA FOR DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF SUBINDICES (SIMPLE TO GENERAL)	41
TABLE 22: SUMMARY STATISTICS OF INDICES (NORMALIZED DATA)	41
TABLE 23: SUMMARY STATISTICS OF INDICES (WITHOUT NORMALIZATION)	44
TABLE 24: COUNTRY RANKING IN DIFFERENT SUBINDICES AND COMPOSITE INDEX	

## List of Figures

FIGURE 1: AVERAGE COUNTRY RESULTS OF DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE SUBINDICATORS	24
FIGURE 1A: AVERAGE INDICATORS BY COUNTRY ON DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE	32
FIGURE 2: AVERAGE COUNTRY RESULTS OF DIGITAL PAYMENT SUBINDICATORS	26
FIGURE 2A: AVERAGE INDICATORS BY COUNTRY ON DIGITAL PAYMENTS	32
FIGURE 3: AVERAGE COUNTRY RESULTS OF E-COMMERCE SUBINDICATORS	30
FIGURE 3A: AVERAGE INDICATORS BY COUNTRY ON E-COMMERCE	32
FIGURE 4: AVERAGE COUNTRY RESULTS OF INTERNET ACCESS SUBINDICATORS	31
FIGURE 4A: AVERAGE INDICATORS BY COUNTRY ON INTERNET ACCESS	32
FIGURE 5: AVERAGE INDICATOR ON DIGITAL ECONOMY	32
FIGURE 6: COUNTRYWISE RADAR CHARTS OF SUBINDICES AND PCA COMPOSITE INDEX	49
FIGURE 7: FIXED BROADBAND BASKET AS A PERCENTAGE OF GNI PER CAPITA	51
FIGURE 8: MOBILE BROADBAND BASKET AS A PERCENTAGE OF GNI PER CAPITA	51
FIGURE 9: BROADBAND SUBSCRIPTIONS PER 100 INHABITANTS	51
FIGURE 10: ACTIVE MOBILE SUBSCRIPTIONS PER 100 INHABITANTS	51
FIGURE 11: INDIVIDUALS USING THE INTERNET, TOTAL (PERCENT)	52
FIGURE 12: POPULATION COVERED BY AT LEAST A 4G MOBILE NETWORK	53

### **Table of Contents**

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	<u> </u>
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	IV
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	VII
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 STUDY OBJECTIVES	2
<b>1.2 COUNTRY PROFILES OF DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT</b>	2
1.2.1 AFGHANISTAN	3
1.2.2 AZERBAIJAN	3
1.2.3 Kyrgyzstan	5
1.2.4 PAKISTAN	6
1.2.5 TAJIKISTAN	7
1.2.6 UZBEKISTAN	/
1.3 OVERVIEW OF CAREC DIGITAL STRATEGY 2030	8
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 DEFINITION OF REY CONSTRUCTS	8
	8
2.1.2 DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE	9
2.1.5 INTERNET ACCESS	9 10
	10
2.1.5 L-COMMERCE	10
2.2 SUMMARY OF LITERATURE REVIEW	11
3. METHODOLOGY, RESULTS, AND DISCUSSION	18
3.1 PRIMARY ANALYSIS OF DIGITAL DIVIDE	18
3.1.1 CONSTRUCTION AND DEFINITION OF QUESTIONNAIRES	18
3.1.2 INTERVIEWEES	19
3.1.3 COLLECTION AND PRESENTATION OF DATA	19
3.1.4 VISUALIZATION OF RESULTS	19
3.1.5 DESCRIPTION OF RESULTS	22
3.1.6 Key Findings and Summary of Results	23

A)	DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE	23	
в)	DIGITAL PAYMENTS	23	
c)	E-COMMERCE	25	
D)	INTERNET ACCESS	27	
3.1	.7 IDENTIFIED GAPS IN CAREC ECONOMIES	29	
3.2	SECONDARY ANALYSIS OF DIGITAL DIVIDE	33	
3.2	.1 BACKGROUND AND MOTIVATION	33	
3.2	.2 DIMENSIONS OF THE DIGITAL DIVIDE	34	
3.2	.3 METHODOLOGY FOR COMPOSITE DIGITAL DIVIDE INDEX	34	
3.2	.3.1 CONSTRUCTION OF COMPOSITE DIGITAL DIVIDE INDEX	34	
3.2	.3.2 PRINCIPAL COMPONENT ANALYSIS RESULTS	36	
3.2	.4 SUMMARY OF PCA INDICES	41	
3.2	.5 EXPLANATION OF PCA INDICES	46	
3.2	.6 GRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF SUBINDICES AND COMPOSITE INDEX	48	
3.2	.7 IDENTIFIED GAPS IN CAREC ECONOMIES	50	
3.2	.8 COMPARISON OF KEY DIGITAL DIVIDE INDICATORS	51	
<u>4. (</u>	CONCLUSION AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	54	
4.1	CONCLUSION	54	
4.2	POLICY IMPLICATIONS	57	
4.3	LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	60	
<u>Ref</u>	ERENCES	61	
<u>API</u>	PENDICES	67	
Арр	PENDIX 1: RESULTS OF PRINCIPAL COMPONENT ANALYSIS FOR ALL INDICES AND SUBINDICES	67	
Тав	BLE A1: PCA FOR DIMENSION 1	67	
App	PENDIX 2: SIMPLE TO GENERAL CASE: PCA RESULTS FOR DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS	79	
App	APPENDIX 3: E-COMMERCE VIRTUAL WAREHOUSE: IMPLEMENTATION IN THE SELECTED CAREC COUNTRIES		
App	PENDIX 4: QUESTIONNAIRE (SHORTER VERSION)	86	
App	PENDIX 5: QUESTIONNAIRE (FULL VERSION)	94	

#### **Executive Summary**

In the recent era of digitalization, the digital gap (divide) is the key hindrance faced by developing countries today, which yields income inequality, causing social conflict and loss of competitiveness, and polarizing people within/across countries, leading to digital hegemony and threatening sustainable growth. Likewise, the CAREC region has not fully benefited from the digital economy transformation. Therefore, it is imperative to analyze digital performance across the CAREC economies and devise policies to narrow the prevailing digital gaps. However, measuring the digital divide is a complex phenomenon owing to the multifaceted nature of the digital economy. Hence, the key objective of this report is to examine the digital gap between CAREC economies based on multiple factors of the digital economy.

Primarily, this report contains five sections. The first section gives a brief introduction and country profiles, while the second summarizes existing reports and literature. The third section offers methodologies to estimate and analyze the digital divide. It contains two subsections that expose both primary and secondary data analysis. The first segment explores detailed attributes of the digital divide in terms of *Digital Infrastructure, Digital Payments, E-commerce, and Internet Access* using questionnaire-based data collected from six CAREC economies: Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan. Based on the average results, it is revealed that digital infrastructure and internet access are top performing indicators of digital development in the CAREC region, while digital payments and e-commerce report the lowest average score. Notably, a lower indicator score indicates a higher digital divide and vice versa. Overall, Azerbaijan (59.9) and Uzbekistan (57.8) are relatively less digitally divided economies compared to Kyrgyzstan (53.2), Pakistan (50.4), Tajikistan (45.6), and Afghanistan (39.0). Nevertheless, there is substantial heterogeneity across sub indicators.

In the second segment, the study employs principal component analysis (PCA) to construct a cumulative digital divide index (CDDI) using secondary data from 2016 to 2020. CDDI integrates multidimensional aspects of the digital gap considering *Cost and Affordability, Access and Infrastructure, Internet Quality, Digital Security, Regulations, Digital FDI, and ICT output.* For CDDI, this study includes eight CAREC economies: Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan, while Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, and China were dropped owing to data limitations. Notably, a lower CDDI score specifies a higher digital divide and vice versa. The average CDDI score exhibits that Kazakhstan and Georgia are the least digitally divided countries in the selected CAREC region with cumulative average scores of 0.868 and 0.798, respectively, while Azerbaijan and Mongolia are moderately divided in the digital spectrum with average scores of 0.562 and 0.480, respectively. Uzbekistan (0.306), Kyrgyzstan (0.276), Pakistan (0.196), and Tajikistan (0.078) are the least performing economies in CDDI, confirming a higher digital divide. Although Kazakhstan and Georgia secured the highest score in the selected CAREC region, they demonstrated a substantial digital divide compared with other developed regions such as the European Union or China.

Overall, both methodologies produce different features of the same phenomena, which indicates that the digital divide exists not only in the digital infrastructure, but also in socioeconomic and regulatory factors. The differences in ranking and country scores in CDDI emerged mainly owing to the use of distinctive indicators and integration of time trends compared to questionnaire-based output. These results help us identify absolute and relative digital backwardness in multiple domains and their respective solutions and policy recommendations.

Keywords: digital divide, digital gap, principal component analysis, CAREC economies

#### 1. Introduction

The advent of the 'fourth industrial revolution' has brought advanced digitalization into the global economy, with increasing access to information and connectivity. This revolution plays a crucial role in achieving sustainable development goals (SDGs). However, 50 percent of the world's population remains unconnected, posing a danger to the groups being left behind. The gap between and within countries needs to be addressed to ensure equitable gains from digitalization. The importance of this endeavor was made apparent when the United Nations designated access to the internet and information and communication technology (ICT) as a target of SDG 9c in 2015.

Among other digitally divided regions, there is the challenge and opportunity of developing the Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation (CAREC) economies to harness the commitment of digital transformation by reducing the digital divide gap. Currently, the COVID-19 pandemic has reiterated the importance of the digital economy and connectivity. It entails examining challenges and impeding factors to provide sound data driven and research-based policies to tighten the digital gap.

Manifestly, the CAREC region—particularly Central Asia, a landlocked part of the Asian region—still lacks connectivity infrastructure. It is located far from the world's main fiber optic routes under the sea and oceans. Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and double-landlocked Uzbekistan are more complicated as their mountainous geography complicates the provision of broadband connectivity (World Bank, 2020). Afghanistan (ITU, 2018) and Pakistan (Baloch and Musyani, 2020) have a similar geographic challenge that hinders digital inclusiveness. Similarly, Azerbaijan is another landlocked country in the CAREC region embodied with lower digital penetration. The telecom industry mostly dominates the ICT sector, and a value-added level is relatively low across all countries (ADB, 2019).

Almost half the population in Central Asia (Uzbekistan 55 percent, Kyrgyzstan 38 percent, and Tajikistan 22 percent) is not digitally connected, and less than 20 percent of Afghanistan (13.5 percent) and Pakistan's (15.51 percent) population utilizes the internet. In addition, many disconnected individuals live in remote rural areas (UN DESA, 2020). Notably, five out of six selected CAREC economies are below the global average in terms of the number of individuals using the internet. Only Azerbaijan (79.8 percent) demonstrates a higher number of individuals using the internet compared with the global average.

Specifically, over the last few years, most CAREC economies have made headway in creating the infrastructure required for the digital economy, particularly e-commerce. However, the digital economies have progressed at a different rate. Different infrastructure components have not always evolved at the same rate, resulting in some countries being ahead in certain sectors while falling behind in others (CAREC, 2021). It creates a digital gap not only in the countries themselves but within the region. In a recent study of CAREC and ADB, it is suggested that the CAREC economies are required to coordinate their efforts to harmonize their laws closely with the global consensus. It facilitates closing the digital gap and developing e-commerce in the region (CAREC and ADB, 2021).

Moreover, to consolidate the collective efforts to achieve the UN Agenda 2030 and digital inclusion, the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) introduced a common strategy—Connect 2030—where goal 2 is 'inclusiveness: bridge the digital divide and provide broadband access for all' (ITU, 2020). Similar objectives are considered in the upcoming Digital CAREC Strategy 2030. Following this vision of bringing digital inclusiveness and promoting sustainable development in CAREC economies has great relevance.

#### **1.1 Study Objectives**

The main objective of the research project is to examine the digital gap of six CAREC economies (Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan) for the digitalization of their economies. This research provides a gap analysis report to identify the digital divide between the member countries based on foreign direct investment (FDI), including investment in digital infrastructure, internet access, digital payment, and digital trade or e-commerce. Additionally, this study also constructed a cumulative digital divide index using a panel of eight CAREC countries: Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan. The proposed index integrates multidimensional aspects of the digital gap considering cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, internet quality, digital security, regulations, digital FDI, and ICT output.

The specific objectives of the study are:

- To provide a comparative analysis of the current situation of the digital economy with the potential in selected CAREC economies and to identify gaps for development and action.
- To analyze the 'digital divide' among the selected CAREC economies and to provide a comparison with the rest of the CAREC economies and other regions.
- To identify major gap areas and opportunities for bridging the digital gap in the region.

#### **1.2 Country Profiles of Digital Development**

The digitalization of the economy and the building of a digital economy are closely related to establishing a stable and secure digital infrastructure. Without a constant and secure digital infrastructure, digitalization of the economy is impossible. For example, the use of ICT in economic relations and the production of digital products based on digital technologies are core fundamentals of this phenomenon. The rapidly developing internet of things (IoT), 5G technologies, big data, cloud computing, robotization, cyber security, and the introduction of artificial intelligence (AI) worldwide also require the construction and updating of the corresponding backbone infrastructure. Without a stable fixed infrastructure, it is impossible to ensure the provision of both international and domestic communication services at the level of advanced standards. Nowadays, communication services are rapidly developing all over the world, the number of users and devices connected to the internet is growing. Telecommunication operators receive new foreign and domestic infrastructure investments every year.

Abecassis et al. (2018) state that since 2014 telecommunication companies have invested more than USD300 billion in digital infrastructure. The research shows that there will be an increase in the number of devices connected to the internet. Moreover, according to the GSM Association (GSMA) report 'The Mobile Economy 2019' (GSMA, 2019), the number of IoT connections will triple and reach 25 billion in the world for the period 2018-2025. During the same period, income from IoT will grow four times to reach USD1.1 trillion. Digitalization and infrastructure development will lead to an increase in the number and users of mobile internet. This report also projects 5 billion internet users based on the benchmark of 3.6 billion in 2018. On the other hand, new statistics of the recent GSMA (2021) report suggest that the COVID-19 pandemic impacts IoT sales in various industries, including connected vehicles, smart cities, and smart buildings. The forecast for 2025 has been lowered to 20 percent, and global revenues for IoT will account for USD900 billion.

Moreover, the digital economy's data consumption is putting a strain on existing IT infrastructure. Data lines, internet exchanges, data centers, cloud computing, and hosting businesses are part of the digital

infrastructure. The digital economy has produced an entirely new supply chain owing to this rising demand: the digital supply chain. Data transportation, storage, and processing are all part of this chain. Data centers, which can house hundreds of servers and facilitate various forms of data storage and processing from storing secure data to facilitating online shopping or analyzing data with advanced AI algorithms, are another essential part of the digital infrastructure ecosystem (Baker McKenzie, 2021).

#### 1.2.1 Afghanistan

Afghanistan is a low-income country in the neighborhood of Central Asia, and its economy is mainly driven by the export of raw materials. The population of Afghanistan is around 38.9 million people and this figure is increasing rapidly, particularly in recent decades (World Bank, 2020). Afghanistan presents enormous connectivity issues as a landlocked and mountainous country in terms of the digital economy. Only 11 percent of the population uses the internet (World Bank 2017), and around 75 percent of the population live in rural and often remote places (World Bank 2019). The cost of using the internet is also a continuing concern. Owing to its landlocked status and lack of submarine cables, Afghanistan has been subjected to transaction fees from its neighbors, Pakistan, Iran, and Turkmenistan (ITU, 2018). Table 1 presents country ranking based on existing digital development indices by different organizations and multidevelopment partners.

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	143/152
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	159/176
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	169/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	N/A
Network Readiness Index (NRI) (2020)	N/A
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	3
UPU reliability score (2020)	14.21 (+3.24)
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019) UPU reliability score (2020)	3 14.21 (+3.24)

#### Table 1: Main Digital Development Indicators of Afghanistan

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020), ITU (2017), UN DESA (2020), UPU (2020)

On the other hand, digital governance has long been seen as a crucial component of the government's development plan (Government of Afghanistan, 2008). The Ministry of Communications and Information Technology (MCIT) stated its intention for ICT to be widely used within government to increase public sector efficiency and deliver better social services in its information and communications (ICT) policy document, which was first published in 2003 (OECD, 2019). Furthermore, the government underlined its ambition for a digital transformation of the public sector in the 2018-2022 ICT Policy for Afghanistan, building on past work on digital government in Afghanistan (Government of Afghanistan, 2018).

#### 1.2.2 Azerbaijan

The issue of establishing a sustainable ICT infrastructure in Azerbaijan is also brought up by digitalization and the development of a digital economy. Modernizing the fixed technological foundation and building a new digital infrastructure are essential for improving the digital economy and increasing the number of internet users. Geographically, Azerbaijan connects Europe and Central Asia and comprises 800 kilometers from the Black Sea to the Caspian Sea. Azerbaijan inhabits 10.11 million people (World Bank 2020). Economically speaking, Azerbaijan is an upper middle-income economy, and the extraction of fossil fuels drives its economy. Oil production accounts for over 90 percent of Azerbaijan's exports, and the oil and gas industry accounts for 33 percent to 50 percent of Azerbaijan's GDP, depending on oil prices (OECD, 2019). Thus, Azerbaijan has vast oil resources that are the main driving force of the economy.

On the other hand, the Government of Azerbaijan supports and puts effort into the development of the digital economy. This idea is at the heart of the 'Azerbaijan Digital HUB' program, which has begun to be implemented to turn Azerbaijan into a regional digital center. Among the state bodies of Azerbaijan, the State Agency for Public Service and Social Innovations under the President of the Republic of Azerbaijan plays an important role in promoting digital transformation in the country. The agency created the Center for the Development of Electronic Government to support the digitalization of the public sector and the Center for Incubation and Acceleration INNOLAND, which supports the development of startups in the ICT field (UNESCAP, 2020). The 'ASAN Xidmət' was introduced by the Government of Azerbaijan, successfully implementing and reaching various milestones in providing digital public services. Through 15 ASAN centers around the nation, run by ASAN Xidmət, the public can access 315 services from 11 government departments and private organizations and businesses. Some services have been moved to online, and mobile services are now also accessible. ASAN is being implemented in collaboration with the commercial sector, responsible for developing software and earning profit through transaction fees. In 2015, ASAN received a United Nations public service award for public service delivery (Yoon, 2019).

Another important project to promote e-governance in Azerbaijan is 'Digital Azerbaijan,' which is a digital information center covering portals that provide digital services in Azerbaijan, information on digital services and their use, information on events in this area, and surveys for civil thought about services. The portal is operated by the E-Gov Development Center. By creating the country's digital platform, the center plays an important role in safeguarding citizens' living standards and access to government services and promoting these services among the population. The center also operates the myGov portal where the citizens can easily obtain information in real time based on information exchange from the electronic systems of relevant government agencies.

Regarding the B2C E-commerce Index of Azerbaijan (UNCTAD, 2020), the country's rank was changed from 63 to 65, with an index value of 60 in 2020. Azerbaijanian internet shoppers comprised 2 percent of a share of internet users and a 1 percent share of the total population in 2020 (UNCTAD, 2019). This shows there is still space to develop the digital economy of Azerbaijan. At the end of the fourth quarter of 2020 (Trend, 2021), compared with the same period of the previous year, the volume of cashless transactions of digital payments increased by 34 percent in Azerbaijan, contactless payments by 5.2 times, and the volume of payments via the internet and mobile banking by 65 percent and 90 percent, respectively. Table 2 offers country ranking based on existing digital development indices, suggesting a lower rank than other developing Asian countries.

#### Table 2: Main Digital Development Indicators of Azerbaijan

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	65/152
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	65/176
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	70/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	52/120
Network Readiness Index (NRI)—(2020)	66/134
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	2
UPU reliability score (2020)	44.66 (-2.33)

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020), ITU (2017), UN DESA (2020), UPU (2020)

Therefore, the government of Azerbaijan set goals for digital transformation of the economy by implementing the State Program on the Implementation of the National Strategy for the Development of Information Society in Azerbaijan for 2016-2020<sup>1</sup> with 52 measures toward this goal. Additionally, since 2016, the Strategic Roadmap for Development of Telecommunications and Information Technologies in Azerbaijan has been realized (Government of Azerbaijan, 2016). Currently, the government is drafting a new Digital Transformation Concept to be accepted in the coming months.

#### 1.2.3 Kyrgyzstan

Kyrgyzstan is a lower middle-income country, one of the poorest countries in Central Asia with Tajikistan, and the second least urbanized country in the region (World Bank, 2020). Remittances account for 33.2 percent of the country's GDP. The economy is extremely vulnerable to fluctuations in commodity prices, as gold and mining account for 63.5 percent of total exports and absorb 80 percent of FDI (OECD, 2019). Consumption/e-commerce, development investment, public administration, and export-import operations are the key components of Kyrgyzstan's digital economy nowadays. Consumption as a kind of virtual commerce accounts for most of the entire volume of the digital economy. This is in line with the percentage increase over the previous year. Domestic appliances and electronics, apparel and footwear, furniture, and household products are the most popular areas for digital commerce. In Kyrgyzstan, these categories account for 80 percent of the e-commerce market. Table 3 describes the country's ranking based on existing reports, suggesting a much lower rank globally.

#### Table 3: Main Digital Development Indicators of Kyrgyzstan

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	97/152
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	109/176
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	83/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	N/A
Network Readiness Index (NRI)—(2020)	94/134
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	5
UPU reliability score (2020)	25,19 (+1,58)

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020), ITU (2017), UN DESA (2020), UPU (2020)

The National Development Strategy of Kyrgyzstan for 2018-2040 was approved in Kyrgyzstan by decree of the President of Kyrgyzstan on 31 October 2018, one of the strategic foundations of which was the 'Taza Koom' (translated as 'Smart Society') National Digital Transformation Program (Institute for Statistical Research and Professional Development of the Kyrgyz Republic, 2020). Accordingly, to develop

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup><u>http://www.e-qanun.az/framework/33717</u>

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

and provide support in the implementation of digitalization and e-government development, the Ministry of Digital Development was established by the merger of the State Digital Development Service under the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic and the State Registration Service under the Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic.

This merge was carried out to pool resources for digital transformation, assuring Kyrgyzstan's long term growth in the digital age (Ministry of Digital Development of The Kyrgyz Republic, 2021). The current national strategy focuses on the implementation of modern technologies—in particular, in the customs, education, and banking services. The Taza Koom program is considered a key component of the national sustainable development strategy until 2040 and envisions the advance of digital public services, smart cities and villages, infrastructure, and human capital in Kyrgyzstan.

#### 1.2.4 Pakistan

Pakistan has the largest population count among selected CAREC countries, with 220.89 million citizens (World Bank, 2020). Pakistan borders Afghanistan, China, India, and Iran by land and Oman by sea. Most of Pakistan's export share comes from the textile industry and rice. The top export destinations are the United States (14.4 percent), China (7.75 percent), Germany (6.71 percent), the United Kingdom (6.13 percent), and Afghanistan (4.44 percent) (OEC, 2021). Pakistan had over 173 million mobile connections in January 2021, according to Data Reportal's (2021) research, an online platform that aggregates digital insights from around the world. Between January 2020 and January 2021, the number of mobile connections in the country climbed by 6.9 million (a 4.2 percent rise). Table 4 shows that the country's ranking is based on prevailing digital development indicators and confirms that Pakistan lags behind its potential and falls in the lower quartiles of digital development.

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	116 (114 in 2019)
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	148/176
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	153/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	90/120
Network Readiness Index (NRI)—(2020)	111/134
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	5
UPU reliability score (2020)	39.36 (-0.05)

#### Table 4: Main Digital Development Indicators of Pakistan

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020), ITU (2017), UN DESA (2020), UPU (2020)

The Ministry of Information Technology and Telecommunication (MOITT) was preparing to launch the Digital Pakistan Policy (DPP) 2021, in line with the government's goal. The DPP 2021 was developed after a thorough consultation process involving all four provinces and two regions, including Gilgit-Baltistan, Azad Jammu, and Kashmir. Creating a digital ecosystem in Pakistan with infrastructure and institutional frameworks for the quick delivery of innovative digital services, apps, and content is a primary goal of the Digital Pakistan Policy. This policy indicates a move from a piecemeal approach to a comprehensive technology strategy that emphasizes the digital economy as a broad enabler of socioeconomic development in various sectors of Pakistan's economy (Ministry of IT and Telecom of Pakistan, 2018).

#### 1.2.5 Tajikistan

Tajikistan is the only former Soviet Union country classified by the World Bank as a low income country (2020). The Tajik population is mainly rural, and characterized by the lowest level of urbanization in Central Asia with a 27 percent rate. The government has a 15 year plan to provide appropriate infrastructure and job opportunities for more than 45 percent of the population under 20 in 2015. Agriculture is still a large part of the economy, accounting for 21 percent of GDP, but climate change poses severe dangers to the sector (OECD, 2019). The People's Republic of China and the Russian Federation are the two primary sources of FDI in Tajikistan, accounting for 22 percent and 21 percent of total FDI inflow, respectively (Chamber of Commerce and Industry of the Republic of Tajikistan) (n.d.). Kazakhstan (8 percent), the United Kingdom (7 percent), the United States (6 percent), and the Philippines (6 percent) are also key sources of FDI (5 percent).

Tajikistan has already reaped the benefits of having a well developed ICT sector. From 2000 to 2015, it was one of the fastest growing sectors in the country, contributing to socioeconomic development and state budget revenue (Olters, 2021). Table 5 reports the country's global ranking, indicating a lower rank worldwide.

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	121 (130 in 2019)
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	N/A
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	133/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	N/A
Network Readiness Index (NRI)—(2020)	109/134
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	27
UPU reliability score (2020)	7,37 (no change)

#### Table 5: Main Digital Development Indicators of Tajikistan

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020), ITU (2017), UN DESA (2020), UPU (2020)

Political priorities and measures for the digital transformation of the economy and society of Tajikistan are enshrined in the National Development Strategy of the country for the period up to 2030 (Government of Tajikistan, 2016) and the Concept of Digital Economy in Tajikistan (Government of Tajikistan, 2019). Within the framework of this program, Tajikistan seeks to improve the quality of the legal and institutional framework for the development of technology industries and an innovative economy. Both two documents state that the digital transformation of the economy in Tajikistan should be based on more effective institutional development and improved e-governance, and aimed at strengthening the network of national technology parks and diversifying the economy through the development of knowledge intensive industrial sectors.

#### 1.2.6 Uzbekistan

Uzbekistan is the most populous and low middle income country in Central Asia. Its economy relies primarily on gold, petroleum, and cotton exports. Switzerland (primarily as a market for its gold exports), the People's Republic of China (the first country of origin for imports and the second country of destination for exports), and the Russian Federation are Uzbekistan's prime commercial partners (OEC, 2021). Despite the government's history of protectionist trade policies, greater trade openness has become a key component of the economic reform plan since 2017. One of the country's key priorities is economic diversification and the transition to the creation of high tech industries with higher added value (Center of Development Strategy, 2020). The strategy 'Digital Uzbekistan 2030,' adopted by presidential decree

on 5 October 2020, calls for over 280 initiatives for regional digital transformation and sectors of the country's economy over the following two years (Kutbitdinov and Ismailov, 2021).

In addition, a comprehensive program—'Digital Tashkent'—is being implemented, which provides the launch of a geoportal integrated with more than 40 information systems (Government of Uzbekistan, 2020). In 2021, it was planned to increase digitalization in the healthcare sector, and complete the implementation of electronic polyclinic and telemedicine systems in the regions based on the experience of fighting the pandemic. The banking sector's digital revolution, which includes automated management systems and financial technology, will continue. More than USD600 million will be invested in agriculture's digitization to bring contemporary agricultural technology and creative solutions (Kutbitdinov and Ismailov, 2021). Table 6 reports the country's ranking based on existing reports, signifying a lower ranking in the global spectrum.

#### Table 6: Main Digital Development Indicators of Uzbekistan

UNCTAD B2C e-commerce rank (2020)	107 (94 in 2019)
ICT Development Index (IDI)—ITU (2017)	95/176
UNPAN E-Government Development Index (2020)	87/193
Inclusive Internet Index (3i)—EIU (2021)	76/120
Network Readiness Index (NRI)—(2020)	N/A
Proportion of internet users who shop online, in percent (2019)	6
UPU reliability score (2020)	19.67 (-8.39)

Source: UNCTAD (2019; 2020); WEF (2019); WIPO (2021); UPU (2020).

#### 1.3 Overview of CAREC Digital Strategy 2030

CAREC member countries developed the CAREC Digital Strategy 2030 in 2021. The strategy serves as a vision, plan, and stimulus for regional cooperation in digital transformation. Its goal is to serve as a mechanism for fostering policy dialog and design, capacity building, information exchange, and the implementation of initiatives and programs that use and promote digital technology to address social and economic concerns in the region (CAREC, 2021). The current study adhered to the objectives and scope of the CAREC Digital Strategy.

#### 2. Literature Review

#### **2.1 Definition of Key Constructs**

#### 2.1.1 Digital Divide

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) broadly defines the digital divide as: 'The gap between individuals, households, businesses, and geographic areas at different socioeconomic levels with regard both to their opportunities to access ICTs and to their use of the internet for a wide variety of activities' (OECD, 2001). The digital divide is usually considered the lack of access to information and communication technology (ICT) (Brock, 2014).

Some scholars also include the lack of digital infrastructure, affordability, knowledge, and skills as one of the main components of the digital divide (Ben et al., 2017). Moreover, Chakravorti (2021) states that one of the major solutions to bridge the digital gap in the United States is a majorly digital investment.

Currently, the shifting digital landscape since the last great global tragedy, the 2008/2009 financial crisis, is shown in a new UNCTAD (2020) study. It examines how a technologically equipped environment benefits certain people more than others. According to the study, the coronavirus outbreak has expedited the use of digital solutions, tools, and services, hastening the worldwide shift to a digital economy.

In addition, the new IMF study (García-Escribano, 2020) shows that the speed of the internet defines the digital gap not only within the country but between countries. Despite being world leaders in mobile money transactions, countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, followed by several emerging and growing economies in Asia, have some of the lowest internet connectivity. There is also a significant difference in internet access among businesses in Sub-Saharan Africa—only approximately 60 percent of organizations use email for business in Sub-Saharan Africa, compared with roughly 85 percent in Europe and Central Asia.

Comparatively speaking, even within LDCs, there remains a digital gap. There are significant disparities in per capita income, geography, and population size among LDCs. This variation is also seen in digital development levels, with some nation features clustering together. For example, most Asian LDCs are at the forefront of digital growth, all SIDS are in the middle stage, and many African LLDCs are at the bottom (ITU, 2021). Another study on the digital divide in the EU has found some differences in access, usage, and benefits that exist across Europe and explicitly in East EU member states (Ragnedda and Kreitem, 2018).

#### 2.1.2 Digital Infrastructure

ITU (2020) defines digital infrastructure as a vital component of a country's economy, easing the movement of products, permitting exports, and guaranteeing that citizens receive governmental services. Digital infrastructure is the foundation of the digital economy, which is formed by various digital objects. The development of high-tech digital infrastructure provides competitiveness within the digital economy (Nosova et al., 2019). Digital infrastructure has become important to provide digital connectivity while maintaining societal resilience and business continuity. Especially during the COVID-19 crisis, digital infrastructure providers worldwide faced challenges and a higher demand for connectivity as most citizens were ordering goods and services online because of lockdown and/or working from home (Strusani and Houngbonon, 2020). Thus, there are opportunities for digital infrastructure providers to increase the value of connectivity via higher demand. The WBG Digital Economy for Africa (DE4A) flagship initiative tool defined that digital infrastructure includes mobile internet, fixed broadband internet, complementing infrastructure computer, tablets, smartphones, servers, and all related and peripheral hardware (World Bank, 2020).

#### 2.1.3 Internet Access

Internet infrastructure is a crucial part of digital infrastructure and provides an essential tool to realize e-commerce. The Digital Economy and Society Index study included connectivity and the use of internet services dimensions as fundamental to measuring the digital economy level and identifying the gaps (European Commission, 2020). Moreover, OECD (2019) and IDB (Zaballos et al., 2020) both concluded that increasing investment in connectivity and increasing efficiency of investments in digital infrastructure would benefit future technologies and achieve sustainable development goals.

#### 2.1.4 Digital Payments

The adoption and utilization of fintech solutions are commonly accepted as a tool for the rationale to achieve broader sustainable development goals such as gender equity and poverty reduction (Lewis et al., 2017). UNCTAD (2019; p. 127) recommends governments of LDCs to support mobile payments and other cashless solutions and digital financial literacy among MSMEs. Also, the governments were advised to promote various e-banking solutions, intra-bank transactions, and other digital banking innovations. Research on Chinese digital finance (Jiang et al., 2021) demonstrated that the development of fintech had stimulated the easing of regional entrepreneurship, which in turn promoted economic growth. In Indonesia, digital payment start-ups disrupted the banking sector; however, P2P fintech does not substantially disrupt the banks, primarily because the users focus more on security reasons (Siek and Sutanto, 2019).

#### 2.1.5 E-Commerce

According to the OECD definition of e-commerce, 'The sale or purchase of goods or services, conducted over computer networks by methods specifically designed to receive or place orders. Those methods order the goods or services, but the payment and the ultimate delivery of the goods or services do not have to be conducted online. An e-commerce transaction can be between enterprises, households, individuals, governments, and other public or private organizations. To be included are orders made over the web, extranet, or electronic data charge. The type is defined by the method of placing the order. To be excluded are orders made by telephone calls, facsimile, or manually typed email.' (Dhaundiyal, 2021).

Attracting FDI to expand the digital economy (also known as 'digital FDI') is one way to boost capacity and competitiveness, particularly for small and medium-sized businesses (SMEs) (Stephenson et al., 2021). Digital FDI contributes to financial flow and increases embedded digital knowledge and technology, resulting in job creation and increased productivity (World Bank, 2016). UN ESCAP's (2021) study emphasizes the role of multinational enterprises (MNEs) in the development of the digital economy as they are considered the primary drivers of digital FDI. The digital FDI investors reflect high quality digital connection and digital skills and a robust and stable regulatory framework that attract high end experts from across the world as the most crucial factors in financing the host country. Moreover, data security, data privacy, content monitoring, data localization requirements, copyright, contract, consumer protection laws, and laws governing e-agreements are all crucial.

A previous CAREC report highlighted the role of e-commerce in creating opportunities for vulnerable groups such as women, people with disabilities, and those living in rural areas (CAREC Institute, 2021). Similarly, an OECD report emphasizes that measuring e-commerce helps establish relevant policies for taxation, consumer policy, cross border trade, and the environment (OECD, 2019). Therefore, it is important to look at e-commerce aspects in this study. Lastly, as stated earlier, during the COVID-19 crisis, the digital economy provided a safer platform for interaction between people and organizations and the flow of goods and services. Governments are increasingly setting digitalization at the front and center of policy agendas, including in the CAREC countries. Hence, it is important to support their research and policy recommendation efforts. Finally, in addition to the CAREC Institute (2021) report, further studies should be conducted to explore the role of digital infrastructure, digital FDI, digital payment systems, and government policies on e-commerce.

EU4Digital has launched its e-commerce pilot, establishing national virtual warehouses in Azerbaijan and Georgia to support retailers, marketplaces, delivery operators, and customs to place products for sale

abroad and facilitate cross border delivery. The e-commerce pilot aims to strengthen the e-commerce ecosystem and increase e-commerce volumes, increase awareness and support to prepare for the 2021 e-commerce VAT package introduced in the EU, and address existing cross border challenges in e-commerce trade. Within the pilot, the companies from Azerbaijan (a seller of handcrafted wooden accessories) and Georgia (two women-led businesses, producing children's clothing and eco-friendly housewarming gifts) successfully sold their products to Germany through the virtual warehouse (the case study is given in Appendix 3)

#### 2.1.6 E-Governance

UNPAN (2011) defines e-governance as 'the application of ICT tools in (1) the interaction between government and citizens and businesses, and (2) in internal government operations to simplify and improve democratic governance.' While UNESCO (2011) provided a broader definition stating that e-governance is 'the public sector's use of information and communication technologies to improve information and service delivery, encouraging citizen participation in the decision-making process and making government more accountable, transparent, and effective.'

Many studies emphasize the role of governments in developing digital services and e-government (Jarrar, 2017; World Bank, n.a.; Hanna, 2018). Moreover, quality of life is directly correlated with the level of e-government services and ICT related opportunities, as demonstrated in a recent survey conducted in Europe by the United Nations Subgroup C7 E-Government for Sustainable Development and the Institute for Management and Sustainable Development. The greatest barrier to adopting e-services, according to the respondents, is the reluctance to change, and they believe that individual cohesive strategy and public policy in the e-government area should be connected to worldwide standards. This highlights the critical role of e-governance in closing the digital gap and fostering a citizen centered, egalitarian digital society (Stoiciu, 2021). Furthermore, governments at all levels—national, regional, and local—may benefit from a well-designed digital infrastructure (World Bank, n.a.). This is a clear message that digital infrastructure development should go hand in hand with digital government development.

#### 2.2 Summary of Literature Review

The key studies conducted in the CAREC region on the digital gap are primarily focused on infrastructure (CAREC Institute, 2021), financial inclusion aspects (Khalid, 2021), laws and policies (ADB and CAREC Institute, 2021), e-commerce intensity and postal usage (OECD, 2019; UNCTAD, 2019), and e-government development (UN DESA, 2020). These reports are mainly descriptive in nature and did not compare cross country gap analysis. Table 7 offers a summary of existing reports for the sake of brevity. The summary will help to identify the current study's contribution and further enhance the research analysis.

Moreover, researchers on cross regional and cross-country analysis of the digital divide use digital infrastructure elements, income levels, capital investments, usage, digital services, and legal framework quality as variables to measure the existing gap (Doong and Ho, 2012; Mardikyan et al., 2015; Lewis et al., 2017; Ben et al., 2017; Braesemann and Stephany, 2020; Farooqi et al., 2020; Vimalkumar et al., 2021; and Mushtaq et al., 2021). Notably, some studies include regional integration as one of the main indicators of the study. Economic unions or membership of various regional organizations can provide a more accessible environment for cross border trade and continually improve the digital economy (Duval, 2020). A large extent of existing literature implemented qualitative or descriptive analysis to measure the different attributes of the digital economy such as e-commerce, digital infrastructure, digital financial inclusion, and e-governance; however, little is known regarding a cumulative digital divide using national

level indicators. Tables 7 and 8 represent the summary of relevant research articles and published reports on the digital divide. This brief summary assists us in identifying the research gap and strengthening the study's key contribution. Only a few studies, such as Majid et al. (2021), estimate the digital divide using digital infrastructure and internet quality using selected Asian and Oceania country data. Another recent working paper by UN (ESCAP) proposed a comprehensive theoretical framework to estimate the digital divide based on infrastructure and non-infrastructure factors. We have extended the same and proposed an inclusive digital divide index based on multiple dimensions.

#### Table 7: Summary of Reports on Digital Divide

Report	Author(s)	Data	Main Indicators
Developing E-Commerce in CAREC	CAREC Institute	Secondary data from various	-Internet infrastructure
Countries: Current State and			-Payments
Challenges in Infrastructure		sources	-Logistics
Development (2021)			-E-commerce market
		Secondary data from various sources	Financial Inclusion:
	CAREC Institute		-Account ownership
Financial Inclusion and Fintech in			-Bank account by gender, income, and age group
CAREC: Constraints and Prospects	by Khalid Umar		Financial Adoption:
(2021)	,		-Using and accessing account
			-Purpose of using the account
			-Online purchasing
			-E-commerce use
	ADB and	Secondary data from various	-Internet infrastructure
			<ul> <li>International connectivity modes and network technologies</li> </ul>
E-commerce in CAREC Countries:			-Internet download speeds
Laws and Policies (2021)	CAREC Institute		-Internet access and usage
		sources	-Subscriptions to mobile cellular telephones and broadband internet
			-Electronic payment capacity and use
			-Postal and logistics performance indexes
			-Trade and investment integration
	ADB	Primary data	-Money and finance integration
			-Regional value chain
Asia-Pacific Regional Cooperation			-Infrastructure and connectivity
and Integration Index (2021)	, lob		-People and social integration
			-Institutional arrangements
			-Technology and digital connectivity
			-Environmental cooperation
			-Value of e-commerce in the US and EU28 by sector, 2016
Uppacking E-Commerce:	OECD	Secondary data from various sources	-E-commerce intensity by sector, 2017
Business Models Trends and			-Firm participation in e-commerce by size, 2017
Policies (2019)			-E-commerce intensity, 2017
			-E-commerce engagement in web sales and EDI by firm size, 2010-2017
			-Sales channels and B2C sales by sector, 2012-2017

Report	Author(s)	Data	Main Indicators
UNCTAD B2C E-Commerce Index 2019	UNCTAD	Secondary data from various sources	<ul> <li>Account ownership at a financial institution or with a mobile money service provider (percent of population ages 15+)</li> <li>Individuals using the internet (percent of population)</li> <li>Postal reliability index</li> <li>Secure internet servers (per 1 million people)</li> </ul>
Measuring the Digital Divide in the Asia-Pacific Region for the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) (2019)	UN ESCAP	Secondary data from various sources	<ul> <li>Affordability</li> <li>Availability</li> <li>Digital education</li> <li>Digital security</li> <li>Environment</li> <li>Resilience</li> </ul>
E-Government Survey 2020: Digital Government in the Decade of Action for Sustainable Development (2020)	UN DESA	Primary data (Survey)	<ul> <li>The E-Government Development Index (EGDI)</li> <li>The Online Service Index (OSI)</li> <li>The Telecommunication Infrastructure Index (TII)</li> <li>The Human Capital Index (HCI)</li> <li>E-Participation Index</li> </ul>
EU4Digital: Supporting Digital Economy and Society in the Eastern Partnership E-Commerce Report Recommendations Proposed for E- Commerce Environment Harmonization in the EaP Countries: Republic of Azerbaijan (2021)	EU4Digital	Comparative gap analysis	<ul> <li>E-commerce ecosystem</li> <li>E-commerce legislation</li> <li>And standards</li> </ul>
On the Harmonization of the Digital Markets in the Eastern Partnership: E-Trade, E-Logistics, and Digital Transport Corridors (2018)	HDM	Comparative gap analysis	<ul> <li>National framework for paperless trade</li> <li>Buying products and services</li> <li>Export procedures</li> <li>Import procedures</li> <li>Payment procedures</li> </ul>
Study on the Harmonization of the Digital Markets (HDM) in the Eastern Partnership (2015)	HDM	Comparative gap analysis	<ul> <li>Network, information and cyber security</li> <li>Electronic identification (e-ID) and electronic trust services (eIDAS)</li> <li>E-customs</li> <li>E-commerce for SMEs</li> <li>Digital skills</li> <li>Telecom rules</li> </ul>

#### Table 8: Summary of Articles on Digital Divide

Report	Author(s)	Data	Methodology	Main Indicators
Examining the Global Digital Divide: A Cross- Country Analysis (2015)	Sona Mardikyan, Endam Ayçiçek Yıldız, Mehmet Derya Ordu, and Burcu Şimşek	The cross-sectional data is collected for 145 countries in the world, for 2011	One way ANOVA and regression analysis	-ITU ICT key indicators -Development levels -Income levels -OECD membership -Continental differences
The Impact of ICT Development on the Global Digital Divide (2012)	Shing H Doong, Shu- Chun Ho	Secondary data for 136 countries from 2000 to 2008	<ol> <li>The first principal component (FPC) score is initially used as a composite index approach</li> <li>The cluster scores approach</li> <li>Panel data analysis is used to assess whether there is a causal relationship between national wealth and ICT development status</li> </ol>	-GNI -Mobile penetration -Internet user penetration -Capital investment in telecom -Total telecom revenue
Measuring Digital Development with Online Data Digital Economies in Eastern Europe and Central Asia (2020)	Braesemann, Fabian Stephany, Fabian	Online generated datasets are analyzed to demonstrate that visualization tools can be a complement to traditional statistics	Comparative study	-E-services -Online labor markets -Online knowledge -Creation and access to online knowledge
Exploring the Multilevel Digital Divide in Mobile Phone Adoption: A Comparison of Developing Nations (2021)	M Vimalkumar, Jang Bahadur Singh, and Sujeet Kumar Sharma	This study utilizes individual level survey data collected by the Financial Inclusion Insights (FII) Tracker Survey	Multinomial Logistic Regression	-Basic demographics -Household characteristics -Access to and use of mobile devices -Formal financial services -Financial literacy, preparedness, and other general financial behavior.

Report	Author(s)	Data	Methodology	Main Indicators
A Multivariate Statistical Analysis on Digital Divide across Asia and Oceania Countries (2021)	Majid Mushtaqa, Yuosre FM Badirb, Bomi Songc, Moon- Soo Kim	The variables chosen for the research are all compatible with the recommendations from the OECD. Out of 10 indicators, 9 have been obtained from the 'Measuring the Information Society Report 2017' (International Telecommunication Union, 2017) pertaining to 2016. 1 indicator, that plays a vital role in defining the digital development of a country, Secure Internet Servers, was taken from World Bank's website pertaining to 2016.	Matrix correlation, PCA (factor and cluster analysis) multivariate techniques	<ul> <li>-Fixed telephone subscriptions per 100 inhabitants</li> <li>-Fixed broadband</li> <li>subscriptions per 100 inhabitants</li> <li>-Mobile cellular prices</li> <li>(percent GNI pc)</li> <li>-Fixed broadband prices</li> <li>(percent GNI pc)</li> <li>-Mobile broadband prices</li> <li>500MB (percent GNI pc)</li> <li>-Percentage of households</li> <li>with a computer</li> <li>-Percentage of households</li> <li>with internet access</li> <li>-Percentage of individuals</li> <li>using the internet</li> <li>-Secure internet servers (per 1 million people)</li> <li>-Active mobile broadband subscriptions per 100</li> </ul>
Brookings financial and digital inclusion project: Building a Secure and Inclusive Global Financial Ecosystem (2017)	Robin J Lewis, John D Villasenor, and Darrell M West	Primary data was collected from government officials, industry leaders, international finance institution representatives, and other key stakeholders	Country summaries and score carding method	Four 'dimensions' of financial inclusion: -Country commitment -Mobile capacity -Regulatory environment, -Adoption of traditional and digital financial services
Impact analysis of fintech on banking industry (2019)	Siek, M and Sutanto, A	Data collection using convenience random sampling through questionnaire created in Google forms.	The data analysis methods include linear regression analysis, reliability	-Promotion -Ease of use -Convenience -Faster transaction

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Report	Author(s)	Data	Methodology	Main Indicators
			analysis, validity analysis,	-Wide range of merchant
			correlation analysis.	-Safety
The Nexus between Digital	Jiang, X; Wang, X; Ren,	Secondary data based on big	A panel econometric	Independent variables
Finance and Economic	J; Xie, Z	data on trading accounts on	model, mediating effect	-Economic growth
Development: Evidence		digital inclusive finance from	model, and instrumental	-Digital finance
from China (2021)		Ant Financial Services	variable method were	-Coverage breadth
			employed to evaluate	-Usage depth
			yearly data from 30	-Digitization level
			provinces of China from	Mediator Variable
			2011 to 2018	-Entrepreneurship
				Control Variables
				-Capital input
				-Labor input
				-Government intervention
				-Urbanization rate
				-Industrial structure
				-Physical infrastructure

Note: Compiled by the authors

#### 3. Methodology, Results, and Discussion

This chapter primarily contains two sections that used both primary (questionnaire based) and secondary data analysis. The first segment includes a questionnaire, which explores detailed digital divide attributes in terms of the subjective and objective features of the digital economy. The second section proposes the construction of a composite digital divide index and its comparison with ICT leading economies using recent macro level indicators from 2016 to 2020.

Unlike previous studies, this report complements existing qualitative studies by offering new insights into digital infrastructure, digital payments, e-commerce, and internet access. Moving one step further, this study offers an inclusive picture of the digital divide based on cost and affordability, internet quality, digital security, regulations, digital FDI, and ICT output. It also produces year-on-year trends from 2016 to 2020 and comparisons across indicators and countries. To the best of our knowledge, this is a pioneering study that scientifically estimates the cumulative digital divide index across CAREC countries. This framework can be expanded for other countries to include other indicators.

#### 3.1 Primary Analysis of Digital Divide

In the first section, primary data collection includes quantitative measurement of the current situation in the digital economy within a given country. For this purpose, a questionnaire is compiled to examine the digital gap of selected CAREC economies to digitalize the economies. The filled questionnaires are analyzed to see the results on the digital divide in the selected countries. Based on the retrieved score, gaps are identified with respective recommendations.

#### **3.1.1 Construction and Definition of Questionnaires**

The questionnaire was divided into four main sections and subsections using the following TORs:

- Digital infrastructure
  - Digital public services
  - Integration of digital technology
  - Access to digital financial services
- Digital payments
- E-commerce
  - E-commerce ecosystem
  - Trust, security, and privacy
- Internet access
  - Use of internet

The questionnaire is designed by analyzing the main indicators used in similar surveys previously held within the World Bank, EU (HDM, DESI), CAREC Institute, ADB, and IsDB projects and annual reports of ITU, UN, and WEF. Some additional questions apart from those used in the reports mentioned above were added to the questionnaire to obtain more information and identify deeper gaps in the digital economy. The questions cover such necessary information as available international payment systems, amount of DFDI, 4G coverage, financial tools/policies, state programs, incentives, and projects implemented in the selected countries to develop the mentioned areas of study.

The questions cover available legislation, programs and strategies, logistics and supply chain (availability of world known logistics/delivery companies), e-commerce platforms in the country, payment methods and e-payment platforms, development programs, projects, and other relevant data that will be useful for identification of the digital divide between the member countries. The opinion of field experts available in the selected countries was also taken into consideration. The questionnaires were filled in by a number of interviewees. For some specific questions that interviewees did not answer, field experts were interviewed.

#### 3.1.2 Interviewees

During the study, data collection and analysis were undertaken on the various aspects of the digital economy in the selected CAREC countries. The proposed interviewees were selected considering their previous experience conducting similar surveys in the Eastern Partnership (EaP) countries. Table 9 reports the detailed information of relevant state authorities and other stakeholders interviewed during this study.

#### 3.1.3 Collection and Presentation of Data

The study evaluates the level of the digital economy focusing on four priority digital economy areas:

- Digital infrastructure
- Digital payment
- Internet access
- E-commerce

Two types of questionnaires were designed—a comprehensive version and a short version with the most important indicators. The comprehensive version was filled in all six countries, while the short version was filled with the assistance of CAREC local coordinators in two CAREC economies (Uzbekistan and Azerbaijan). Several indicators were defined for each of the four priority areas of the digital economy. The indicators characterize the most important aspects, such as economic, technical, and political perspectives. The filled questionnaires (short and comprehensive versions are given in Appendix 4 and 5, respectively). During data collection and processing, descriptive statistical methods were used. The collected data was analyzed and used to draft the current situation in the areas surveyed, identify gaps, prepare country profiles, and form recommendations to narrow the gaps. The representatives of interviewees shown in 3.1.2 were interviewed on the questions indicated in the questionnaire. Local field experts were interviewed for some specific questions/indicators that were not answered by interviewees. Moreover, e-commerce platforms in selected countries were also analyzed on local and cross border trade possibilities.

#### 3.1.4 Visualization of Results

The analysed results are grouped into several graphs, radars, and charts describing each indicator by country, the average of each indicator in six countries, country data on each indicator, and data for each country on all the subindicators. The indicators by country show the average rate for each country on each indicator. Country data shows the data of the country on each indicator. The radars of each country on indicators and average in six countries show the country's position among six countries. The table with main subindicators taken into consideration during the assessment and used for data calculations on four areas is also presented. Tables 11 to 15 provide detailed information on all the main subindicators, while other relevant graphs including radar charts are given in Figures 1 to 6.

#### Table 9: List of Interviewed Organizations

Organization name	Description	Key functions in relation to digital economy
Ministry of Information Technologies (MIT)	Central executive body, which formulates and implements state policy, secures the legal normative regulation in the areas of communications (telecommunication, post), high technology (information technology, microelectronics, space, nano, bio, and other innovative knowledge based technology).	Electronic certificates provider for e-signature, state register of information resources and systems, regulator in ICT sector.
Statistical authority	State body that promotes and safeguards the production and publication of official statistics that serve the public good.	Produces the data relevant to the indicators of the digital economy components (areas).
National postal operator	The governmental authority is responsible for postal matters. Postal operations involve the execution of domestic and international postal services to include the receipt, transportation, and delivery of authorized classes of mail, specialized mailing services, the operation of postal facilities, and the sale of postage, philatelic materials, and mailing supplies.	Possess the data on indicators of e-commerce (cross border trade, regulations).
Customs authority (agency)	Customs is an authority or agency responsible for collecting tariffs and controlling the flow of goods, including animals, transports, personal effects, and hazardous items, into and out of a country. Customs is the fiscal subject that charges customs duties (tariffs) and other import/export taxes. It is also responsible for trade facilitation.	Possess the data on indicators of e-commerce (cross border trade, regulations).
Tax/fiscal ministry or corresponding divisions of the Ministry of Finance	Government agency responsible for the intake of government revenue, including taxes and sometimes non-tax revenue, also charged with tax collection, investigation of tax evasion, or carrying out audits.	Data on investments, banking sector, financial services, and other relevant data on digital payments and e-commerce.

Organization name	Description	Key functions in relation to digital economy
Ministry of Economy (Trade)	Central executive body implementing the state policy and regulation in the formation of the economic policy of the country, preparation of macroeconomic forecasts, creation of favorable conditions for economic development and economic growth, trade development (including e-trade operations), providing the promotion of investment activity, development of entrepreneurship and industry, regulation of the licensing and authorization system, prevention of monopoly, elimination of unfair competition, protection of consumer rights, purchase of goods (works and services) at the expense of the state funds, management, and privatization of state property.	E-trade and SME relations indicators.
National (Central) Bank	Central or national bank of the country that establishes and implements the country's monetary and foreign exchange policy, sets and announces an official exchange rate of the national currency, develops a reporting balance of payments, develops the country's consolidated foreign debt statistics, and international investment balance.	Data on investments, banking sector, cashless payments, and other relevant data on digital payments.
Cyber security authorities	State authority provides coordination of the activity of the entities of information infrastructure, awareness about existing cyber threats on a country level, education of population, private entities, and other organizations in the field of cyber security.	Data on trust, cyber security, and privacy issues.
Local parcel delivery services	Parcel delivery companies engaged in the delivery of goods within the country borders (locally only).	Information on e-commerce operations, delivery and return of goods.
Marketplaces available in selected countries selling cross border	A platform that provides information about products of national origin and becomes the beneficial platform for their sale in foreign and domestic markets.	E-commerce related information.

#### 3.1.5 Description of Results

Assessment of the digital economy indicators in the selected CAREC economies defines the overall state of play of the digital economy areas in this country. The most important indicators in each of the four areas of study were selected or grouped into one general subindicator for assessment. Benchmarks are defined for each of the four priority areas of the digital economy and then grouped into indicators. All the indicators are given in a single unit of measurement—percentage—and assessed in percentage. The percentage scale is divided into five parts: 0, 25, 50, 75, and 100. Scoring is done by selecting from 'not available' as to 'fully available' for each indicator on a scale of 0 percent to 100 percent. At the same time, 100 percent is taken as the maximum level (baseline) of the indicator (the definition of China as a baseline is not possible owing to the lack of required data for adequate data comparison).

#### **Table 10: Assessment Criterion for Indicators**

0	25	50	75	100
The weakest indicator	Weak indicators	Medium indicator	Good indicator	The best indicator

The result of 'fully available' (the best indicator) means that the country meets the maximum level and thus receives 100 percent of the milestones. The answer 'not available' means that the country does not meet the corresponding indicator; therefore, it has 0 percent. Based on the assessment of subindicators, an average indicator on each area is defined for each country. Scores of indicators are also calculated as an average of the six selected countries. Scores are presented in different graphical charts. Table 11 describes the scores across different indicators and countries, indicating a significant heterogeneity among CAREC economies in different indicators of the digital economy. It can be observed that digital payments and economerce (digital infrastructure) are key indicators where the digital divide is more (in case of digital payments) and less (in case of e-commerce) pronounced across all CAREC countries. The average score revealed that Azerbaijan (59.9), Uzbekistan (57.8), and Kyrgyzstan (53.2) are relatively less divided economies across the CAREC region compared to Pakistan (50.4), Tajikistan (45.6), and Afghanistan (39.0). Notably, the average score of Afghanistan, Tajikistan, and Pakistan is less than the CAREC average score (51.0), and most of the subindicators are visualized in red, implying a higher digital divide.

Table 11: Assessment	t of Countries	<b>Based on Indica</b>	tors
----------------------	----------------	------------------------	------

Indicators	Afghanistan	Azerbaijan	Kyrgyzstan	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan	Average score (indicators)
Digital infrastructure	50.0	75.0	71.4	71.4	60.7	67.9	66.1
Digital payments	45.8	50.0	50.0	54.2	50.0	54.2	50.7
E-commerce	31.3	43.8	37.5	34.4	34.4	34.4	35.9
Internet access	29.2	70.8	54.2	41.7	37.5	75.0	51.4
Average digital economy score	39.0	59.9	53.2	50.4	45.6	57.8	51.0
Country rank on average score	6	1	3	4	5	2	N/A

#### 3.1.6 Key Findings and Summary of Results

This section presents key findings and results on each area studied. The table of results on digital infrastructure indicators for the selected countries and the chart on the average result on digital infrastructure indicators for all countries, and more detailed results of the selected countries on each subindicator assessed are given below.

#### a) Digital Infrastructure

Table 12 reports the findings of digital infrastructure, which indicates that subindicators are substantially varied across sample countries and fall within the range of 50 percent to 75 percent (the average for the selected six countries is 67.3 percent). The best progress has been achieved in the field of 'national framework/availability of any specific national strategies for digital infrastructure development' and 'country coverage with 4G network.' The weakest indicator among all six countries is 'citizens using online public services.' The highest score was obtained by Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, and Pakistan, while Afghanistan shows the lowest score. The remaining countries demonstrate more or less similar levels in digital infrastructure. Figure 1 reports subindicators of digital infrastructure for each country, while Figure 1 a shows the average indicator score across all countries, suggesting the highest gap in Afghanistan and Tajikistan.

Indicators	Afghanistan	Azerbaijan	Kyrgyzstan	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan	Countries' average
1.1. National framework/availability of any specific national strategies for digital infrastructure development	100	100	100	100	100	100	100.0
1.2. Citizens using online public services	25	25	25	25	25	25	25.0
1.3. Amount of FDI in digital infrastructure	25	75	75	75	50	75	62.5
1.4. Country coverage with 4G network	50	100	100	75	100	75	83.3
1.5. Usage of new technologies in digital infrastructure	50	75	50	75	50	50	58.3
1.6. Availability of micro, small, and medium- size enterprise (MSME) innovation and digitalization hubs (techno parks, SEZs)	50	75	75	75	25	75	62.5
1.7. Availability of any e-health methods	50	75	75	75	75	75	70.8
Average indicators	50	75	71.4	71.4	60.7	67.9	66.1

Table 12: Country	<b>Results of Each</b>	Subindicator of	F Digital I	nfrastructure
	neouno or Each	e a sin a reator e i		

#### b) Digital Payments

From Table 13, the countries demonstrate closer results in most subindicators of digital payments within the range of 45 percent to 54 percent (the average for the selected six countries is 50.7 percent) except for the 'volume of cashless payments,' which is the weakest point (33.3). The best performing countries among the six countries are Pakistan and Uzbekistan, while the others have similar results. The best indicator is digital banking services provided to process financial transactions and activities. The weakest



#### Figure 1: Average Country Results of Digital Infrastructure Subindicators

part is the inability to perform a transaction (receipt and payments) using international payment systems (such as PayPal), which is considered a major gap in the development of e-commerce in the CAREC region. Figure 2 displays subindicators of digital payment for each country. And Figure 2a shows the average indicator score across all countries, suggesting that the highest gaps are in Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, and Tajikistan.

Area/indicator	Afghanistan	Azerbaijan	Kyrgyzstan	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan	Countries' average
2.1. Volume of cashless payments	25	25	25	50	25	50	33.3
2.2. Digital financial products offered by financial service providers	50	50	50	50	50	50	50.0
2.3. Programs for increasing the volume of cashless payments	50	50	50	50	50	50	50.0
2.4. Availability of major payment methods used worldwide to sell and pay for goods on the major marketplaces	50	50	50	50	50	50	50.0
2.5. Digital banking services that help to process financial transactions and activities	50	75	75	75	75	75	70.8
2.6. Availability of specific programs or policies aimed at increasing the cashless payment volume	50	50	50	50	50	50	50.0
Average indicators	45.8	50.0	50.0	54.2	50.0	54.2	50.7

Table 13. Country	/ Results of Fach	Subindicator of	of Digital Payments
Table 15. Country	results of Lacin	Submulcator	n Digital Payments

#### c) E-Commerce

From Table 14, the average indicator in e-commerce (36 percent) is the lowest among other areas of the digital economy. The main challenge that hinders e-commerce development in these countries is that none of the selected countries can register directly on international marketplaces to sell abroad. There are only e-commerce platforms for selling locally. Only the Azerbaijan platform allows local exporters to sell abroad, but there is no possibility of the opposite happening. Although since May 2021, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Turkmenistan have gained an opportunity to sell on Amazon; the real registration has not yet occurred owing to restrictions on the use of international payment systems such as PayPal in the specified countries. The highest indicator among countries is the usage of advanced technologies in online trade such as single window platforms, 'green transport corridor' approach, electronic pre-arrival declaration procedure. Azerbaijan shows the highest score (43.8) while the rest of the countries demonstrate indicators that are relatively close to each other (31.3 to 37.5). Notwithstanding, Azerbaijan uses the e-signature for cross border operations with Belarus. Figure 3 demonstrates subindicators of e-commerce for each country, and Figure 3a displays the average indicator score across all countries, suggesting the highest gap in all sample countries.



#### Figure 2: Average Country Results of Digital Payment Subindicators

Table 14: Country	y Results o	of Each	Subindicator	of E-Co	mmerce

Area/indicator	Afghanistan	Azerbaijan	Kyrgyzstan	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan	Countries' average
3.1. Enterprises having a website with e-commerce functions	25	50	25	25	25	50	33.3
3.2. Can SMEs as companies directly register on international marketplaces— such as Amazon or Alibaba—to sell abroad?	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3.3. Key marketplaces in the country that enable cross border buying and selling	25	50	50	25	25	25	33.3
3.4. Individuals purchasing goods, services, or content over the internet	25	25	25	25	25	25	25.0
3.5. Usage of advanced technologies in online sales (single window platforms, 'green transport corridor' approach, electronic pre-arrival declaration procedure)	50	75	75	75	75	50	66.7
3.6. Legal framework for cross border electronic data exchange between customs	50	50	50	50	50	50	50.0
3.7. What are the most common parcel delivery services used for cross border and local parcels?		75	75	75	75	75	75.0
3.8. Usage of e-signature for cross border operations	0	25	0	0	0	0	25.0
Average indicators		43.8	37.5	34.4	34.4	34.4	35.9

#### d) Internet Access

Table 15 exposes the highest score in internet access in 'share of enterprises with internet access as a percentage of all enterprises.' In contrast, the lowest score is observed in 'individuals using the internet for selling goods and services,' implying bottlenecks for smooth e-commerce operations. Moreover, Uzbekistan and Azerbaijan demonstrate the highest score, while Afghanistan achieved the lowest score among the six countries. Figure 4 includes subindicators of internet access for each country, while Figure 4a visualizes the average indicator score across all countries, suggesting a moderate gap in all countries except Afghanistan. Moreover, Figure 5 visualizes the average indicator score of the digital economy.
|--|

Area/indicator	Afghanistan	Azerbaijan	Kyrgyzstan	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan	Countries' average
4.1. Households using a fixed broadband internet connection at home	0	100	75	50	25	100	58.3
4.2. Individuals using mobile devices to access the internet away from home or work	50	75	50	50	50	75	58.3
4.3. Schools with internet access (e-skills)	25	100	75	25	25	100	58.3
4.4. Share of enterprises with internet access in total number of all enterprises	50	100	75	75	75	100	79.2
4.5. Individuals using the internet for internet banking.	25	25	25	25	25	50	29.2
4.6. Individuals using the internet for selling goods or services.	25	25	25	25	25	25	25.0
Average indicators	29.2	70.8	54.2	41.7	37.5	75.0	51.4

The overall result in the digital economy, taking into account the indicators of all four areas is shown in Figure 5. As can be seen, three of the six countries are above the average (51.0) of the region. Afghanistan, Pakistan, and Tajikistan have to improve their infrastructure, especially for e-commerce and internet access.

#### 3.1.7 Identified Gaps in CAREC Economies

Based on the questionnaire responses and taking into account the opinion of field experts during the interviews, and the gaps indicated in the previous reports of CI and EU, the following gaps are identified and grouped into four parts of the digital economy.

#### 1. Digital Infrastructure

- Lack of e-skills and cultural issues for low level use of online services
- Low level of public confidence in digital documents and services
- Security concerns and internet shutdowns
- Most rural and remote areas do not have access to digital infrastructure
- No precise data on the amount of FDI on different sectors/areas (Each country is presented on the average annual number of total investments in the range of USD200 million. But this is a general figure that does not specify the amount of FDI in each area of the digital economy). The amount of FDI in Afghanistan is lower than in other CAREC countries.
- Low level use of digital technologies in the social sphere

#### 2. Digital Payments

- Lack of awareness on the use of cashless payment methods
- Lack of trust in online payments and low level of cashless transactions
- Limited digital banking services
- Rapidly growing services require investment in infrastructure and legislative support
- High restrictions on the transfer of money abroad, high threshold of the minimum service fee (minimum 25 euros for any amount)
- Impossible to register on international payment systems (such as PayPal) for receiving payments



#### Figure 3: Average Country Results of E-Commerce Subindicators



#### Azerbaijan Indicator 4.3. Indicator 4.1. Indicator 4.4. Indicator 4.2. Indicator 4.6. Indicator 4.5. Pakistan Indicator 4.4. Indicator 4.5. Indicator 4.2. Indicator 4.3. Indicator 4.6. Indicator 4.1. Uzbekistan Indicator 4.3. Indicator 4.2. Indicator 4.1. Indicator 4.4. Indicator 4.6. Indicator 4.5.

## Figure 4: Average Country Results of Internet Access Subindicators

## Figure 1a: Average Indicators by Country on Digital Infrastructure



## Figure 3a: Average Indicators by Country on E-Commerce



# Digital Payments

Figure 2a: Average Indicators by Country on



Figure 4a: Average Indicators by Country on Internet Access



#### Figure 5: Average Indicator on Digital Economy



- 3. E-Commerce
  - Absence of e-commerce platforms that meet international standards and carry out cross border trade (only for local transactions)
  - None of the selected countries can register directly on international marketplaces to sell cross border. Although since May, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Turkmenistan have gained an opportunity to sell on Amazon; however, the real registration has not yet happened owing to restrictions on the use (introduction of) international payment systems—such as PayPal—in the specified countries)
  - Lack of institutional mechanisms for regulating e-commerce such as single regulating body
  - Imperfect and insecure systems of online payments and lack of systems for delivery of goods and services in combination with a low level of consumer confidence
  - Slow or poor adaptation of mobile or online payment
  - Poor after sales service (for online sales), no clear recourse in the event of a negative e-commerce experience
  - Cases of counterfeit product sales. Inauthentic websites.
  - Poor marketing to attract the target audience
  - Lack of confidence in buying online, cyber security concerns
  - Lack of e-skills and trust in government structures
  - Consumer protection issues: difficulties with product returns, poor quality goods, delivery of the wrong goods
  - In two out of six countries, the 'green transport corridor' has not been introduced (this hinders the increase in cross border trade)
  - Absence of a legal framework for cross border electronic data exchange between customs in some countries hinders the increase in cross border trade
  - Absence of e-signature use for cross border transaction in selected countries (only Azerbaijan has a pilot project on using e-signature for cross border transactions with Belarus)

#### 4. Internet Access

- Lack of e-skills for using the internet
- No access to digital infrastructure owing to poor connectivity or instability of electricity supply
- High internet costs
- Problems with internet accessibility, especially in remote areas

#### 3.2 Secondary Analysis of Digital Divide

#### 3.2.1 Background and Motivation

The existing literature highlights that the measurement of the digital divide can be subdivided into three stages: the first constitutes the physical admittance and incentive; the second covers the literateness as well as usage and skills of the digital world; and finally, the third combines the upshot of the first two stages with the impact of making use of digital technology (see van Dijk, 2018; Razzaq et al. 2021). Conventionally, the digital infrastructure gap is mainly considered a potential indicator of the digital divide; nevertheless, other socioeconomic factors are equally essential to estimate factual reasons for digital backwardness. Understanding the digital divide as the lack of access to digital opportunities to live the life one values (following Amartya Sen's (2001) capabilities approach), even basic forms of digitalization—such as access and connectivity—provide major opportunities for socioeconomic development. Thus, the digital divide is highly contingent on other non-infrastructure factors such as governance structure,

business regulations, cost of living, digital awareness, and security. Therefore, it is crucial to integrate all possible dimensions in one cumulative index to draw an inclusive picture of the digital divide.

#### 3.2.2 Dimensions of the Digital Divide

Table 16 describes the key dimensions and indicators used to estimate the cumulative digital divide index (CDDI). The definitions and empirical rationality are also added in Table 16 for brevity. The data for these dimensions are collected from various sources, including but not limited to World Governance Indicators (WGI), Penn-World Tables, World Development Indicators (WDI), ITU World Telecommunication, Ministry of Finance and Commerce, China, and Telecom ministries in chosen CAREC countries.

#### 3.2.3 Methodology for Composite Digital Divide Index

Multidimensional digital divide measures are usually used in the existing literature by considering several indicators and using different weighting schemes and finally leading to a ranking of all the countries under consideration. Policy think tanks and academicians commonly use these composite indices to measure the level of digital development. A comparison is usually made across different regions and countries based on the obtained ranking of the digital divide.

#### 3.2.3.1 Construction of Composite Digital Divide Index

This study uses a principal component analysis (PCA) approach to construct a cumulative digital divide index for six CAREC economies (Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan). These economies are selected based on the data availability of relevant indicators. Note that the principal components (PC) approach reduces a large number of variables of interest (Table 16) into more meaningful (fewer) components or constructs, known as PCs, and picks only the first PC that explains the maximum proportion of variation in data relative to other components that usually cater for a relatively smaller proportion compared to the first PC. This first PC is generally used as an index after being scaled by taking a deviation from the minimum value of this first PC and dividing this difference with the range (maximum minus the minimum value) of this selected PC to get the index in the range of 0 to 1 (see Razzaq et al. 2021a; An et al. 2021 for details). A general discussion commonly found in literature is the choice of weights to be used while creating an index. For this, generally, two routes are adopted. In the first route, the built-in weighting scheme adopted by the principal component approach is used, where weights are automatically assigned to each subdimension by the built-in mechanism by PCA. In the second route, the CDDI is constructed by allocating appropriate weights to each subindex, following the guidelines provided in the existing literature. The construction of composite index using an automated PCA weighting scheme is primarily followed by extant literature—for example, Razzaq et al. (2021b), Agarwal and Panda (2018), Bagchi (2005), Doong and Ho (2012), Park et al. (2015), Rath (2016), Serrano-Cinca (2018), and Wang (2021). This study follows the same approach where weights are chosen by the PCA in a panel setting, and a composite digital divide index (CDDI) is constructed using the seven subdimensions. The performance of each selected CAREC country in terms of the digital divide is analyzed by its digital divide ranking.

CDDI is calculated based on seven key dimensions measuring different aspects of the digital divide: cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, quality of internet, regulations, digital security, ICT output, and digital FDI. In the first step, seven subindices (one for each dimension) are constructed through PCA, and then in the second step, a CDDI is constructed via PCA for the subindices obtained in the first step. The constructed subindices and CDDI are normalized to take a value from 0 to 1. '0' implies the least digital development (higher digital divide), while '1' indicates a higher digital development (lower digital gap).

Table 16: List of Dimensions	s of the	Digital	Divide	Index
------------------------------	----------	---------	--------	-------

Dimension	Abbreviations	Explanation	Indicators	Empirical rationality
Cost and affordability	COST&AFFORD	This covers cost and affordability of internet devices. The variables such as per capita GNI are measured considering the purchasing power parity.	Fixed broadband basket as a percentage of GNI per capita. Mobile cellular basket as a percentage of GNI per capita. Mobile broadband basket as a percentage of GNI per capita.	EIU (2019), United Nations (2018), Baller et al. (2016), Zhang (2013), Huyer et al. (2005).
Access and infrastructure	ACC&INFR	This covers the two main aspects of digital divides: digital access and infrastructure.	Fixed broadband subscriptions. Fixed telephone subscriptions. Mobile subscriptions. Households with a computer at home (percent). Households with internet access at home (percent). Individuals owning a mobile phone (percent). Individuals using the internet, total (percent). Population covered by at least a 3G/4G mobile network (percent).	Baliamoune-Lutz (2003), Varallyai et al. (2015).
Internet quality	QUALITY	Quality of internet includes internet speed using different devices.	International bandwidth per internet user (kbit/s). Monthly fixed broadband internet traffic per fixed broadband subscription (MB). Monthly mobile broadband internet traffic per mobile broadband subscription (MB).	Varallyai et al. (2015).
Digital security	DIGSEC	Level of digital security and implementation and efficacy of regulations.	E-commerce safety. Trust in government websites and apps. Trust in information from social media. Trust in non-government websites and apps. Trust in online privacy.	Huyer et al. (2005), United Nations (2018).

Dimension	Abbreviations	Explanation	Indicators	Empirical rationality
Regulations	REGULATIONS	It covers the social, political, environmental, and economic conditions in a country.	Institutional quality index. Ease of doing business index.	Robinson et al. (2018), Helsper (2017).
ICT output	ICTOUTPUT	It indicates the trade associated with ICT and high-tech goods.	High tech exports as a percentage of manufacturing exports.	(ITU, 2017)
Digital foreign direct investment	DFDI	Foreign direct investment from China in ICT sector.	FDI from China* in the ICT sector of CAREC economies.	(ITU, 2017)

Note: Chinese FDI in ICT sector is considered owing to the unavailability of global FDI flow data into CAREC economies. Also, China is investing a substantial amount of FDI in CAREC economies and publishes its ICT induced FDI statistics yearly. Therefore, it can capture major FDI projects in CAREC countries. Overall, it is a data limitation.

#### 3.2.3.2 Principal Component Analysis Results

The PCA approach is used to construct different subindices and CDDI using the indicators provided in Table 16. The sample spans over five years (2016 to 2020). The choice of sample period is based upon the availability of data on relevant indicators. The idea was to consider maximum indicators and sample CAREC economies in the empirical analysis. After careful observation, we retained eight CAREC economies (Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan) in the sample, and the digital divide index is constructed for these selected CAREC countries.

Starting with the first subindex, 'cost and affordability (cost and affordability),' three indicators (first row of Table 16) are used: a) fixed broadband basket as a percentage of GNI per capita, b) mobile cellular basket as a percentage of GNI per capita, and c) mobile broadband basket as a percentage of GNI per capita. The principal component is applied to these three indicators to retain the first principal component explaining the maximum proportion of variation in data. The detailed results of PCA are provided in Table 1A in Appendix A.

Similarly, to construct the second subindex, 'access and infrastructure (access and infrastructure),' eight indicators are used (second row of Table 16): a) fixed broadband subscriptions; b) fixed telephone subscriptions; c) mobile subscriptions; d) households with a computer at home (percent); e) households with internet access at home (percent); f) individuals owning a mobile phone (percent); g) individuals

using the internet, total (percent); and h) population covered by at least a 3G/4G mobile network (percent). Again, the first principal component is retained explaining maximum proportion of variation. The detailed results to construct this second subindex are provided in Table 2A in Appendix A. Repeating the same process for other indicators, the subindicators for the other five dimensions—quality, regulations, digital security, ICT output, and digital FDI—are obtained via PCA. The detailed results are provided in Tables 3A and 4A in Appendix A. After obtaining all seven subindices, we applied PCA once again on these subindices and constructed a CDDI by picking the first principal component explaining maximum variation in these seven subindices. The compact results for all seven subindices and the CDDI obtained via PCA are provided in Table 19 (with detailed results in Table 5A in Appendix A). We labeled these as the PCA indices without normalization.

Finally, the original indices (non-normalized ones) and the normalized ones are categorized into the best and the worst performing ones using the color scheme in Table 17. This is done by highlighting the cells with a green color for the best performing indices while the worst performing indices are highlighted with a red color.

#### Table 17: Assessment Criterion for Indicators PCA



Later, the same indices are normalized to take values between 0 and 1. This is done by subtracting the minimum value of the index from each value of the same index and dividing the resultant difference with the range (maximum value minus minimum value) of the index. Two different versions of CDDI are constructed: one having values between 0 and 1, labeled as CDDI (0–1); and the second having values ranging from 0 to 100, labeled as CDDI (0–100). The normalized subindices and two versions of the composite digital divide index are presented in Table 19.

#### Table 18: Results of PCA Indices without Normalization

Country	Year	Cost and affordability	Access and infrastructure	Internet quality	Regulations	Digital security	ICT output	Digital FDI	CDDI (PCA)
	2016	0.71	1.07	-0.68	-0.46	0.28	0.07	0.00	0.23
ijan	2017	0.64	1.08	-0.51	-0.53	0.52	0.08	0.00	0.31
rbai	2018	0.59	1.12	-0.51	-0.43	0.66	0.11	0.00	0.36
Aze	2019	0.62	1.14	-0.45	-0.32	0.9	0.14	0.00	0.50
	2020	0.64	1.17	-0.39	-0.22	0.95	0.17	0.00	0.58
	2016	0.29	0.77	0.97	1.81	0.8	0.09	0.07	0.95
ia	2017	0.27	0.78	1.16	1.83	0.86	0.08	0.07	1.01
sorg	2018	0.63	0.86	1.47	1.86	0.90	0.08	0.08	1.28
Ge	2019	0.65	0.95	1.55	1.88	0.85	0.06	0.09	1.32
	2020	0.7	1.04	1.64	1.91	0.85	0.04	0.09	1.4
А а	2016	1.00	1.12	-0.05	0.25	0.00	0.89	0.72	1.02

Country	Year	Cost and affordability	Access and infrastructure	Internet quality	Regulations	Digital security	ICT output	Digital FDI	CDDI (PCA)
	2017	0.81	1.16	0.36	0.36	0.26	0.67	1.00	1.17
	2018	0.95	1.20	0.64	0.42	0.80	0.65	0.97	1.45
	2019	1.00	1.31	0.86	0.49	0.90	0.82	0.96	1.65
	2020	1.02	1.42	1.09	0.56	1.00	1.00	0.95	1.87
	2016	-1.54	-0.82	-0.36	0.00	0.17	0.55	0.16	-0.99
tan	2017	-1.71	-0.57	-0.16	0.07	0.15	0.48	0.17	-0.91
gyzs	2018	-0.99	-0.35	0.29	0.05	0.13	0.21	0.18	-0.55
Kyr	2019	-0.77	-0.25	0.71	0.03	0.26	0.18	0.20	-0.30
	2020	-0.78	-0.15	1.13	0.00	0.44	0.14	0.23	-0.11
	2016	0.61	-0.82	-1.07	0.75	0.00	0.45	0.61	-0.21
olia	2017	0.53	-0.76	-0.93	0.98	0.10	0.08	0.73	-0.20
Mongo	2018	0.6	-0.20	-0.84	0.95	0.40	0.13	0.44	0.09
	2019	0.61	0.05	-0.65	0.93	0.26	0.52	0.45	0.32
	2020	0.66	0.29	-0.45	0.90	0.14	0.91	0.46	0.59
	2016	-0.35	-1.47	-0.63	-1.07	0.26	0.04	0.63	-1.08
an	2017	-0.56	-1.66	-0.65	-1.03	0.38	0.05	0.76	-1.15
kist	2018	-0.68	-1.56	0.03	-0.9	0.33	0.05	0.56	-1.03
Ра	2019	-0.13	-1.43	0.43	-0.77	0.44	0.05	0.63	-0.60
	2020	-0.33	-1.3	0.84	-0.64	0.64	0.06	0.71	-0.41
	2016	-1.49	-1.17	-0.57	-1.1	0.23	0.06	0.15	-1.51
tan	2017	-1.52	-1.13	-0.44	-1.27	0.18	0.03	0.21	-1.50
ikist	2018	-0.61	-1.09	-0.07	-1.14	0.14	0.00	0.26	-1.05
Taj	2019	-0.55	-1.06	0.28	-1.01	0.09	0.01	0.26	-0.90
	2020	-1.70	-1.02	0.63	-0.88	0.03	0.01	0.26	-1.22
	2016	-0.88	-0.49	-1.18	-1.06	0.09	0.06	0.14	-1.21
itan	2017	-0.34	-0.08	-1.11	-1.09	0.16	0.03	0.12	-0.82
ekis	2018	0.56	0.08	-0.97	-0.89	0.66	0.00	0.49	-0.16
Uzb	2019	0.47	0.28	-0.79	-0.70	0.68	0.01	0.43	-0.03
	2020	0.37	0.49	-0.61	-0.5	0.73	0.01	0.37	-0.17

Country	Year	Cost and affordability	Access and infrastructure	Internet quality	Regulations	Digital security	ICT output	Digital FDI	CDDI (0–1)	CDDI (0–100)
	2016	0.89	0.89	-0.68	0.25	0.28	0.07	0.00	0.51	51.42
ijan	2017	0.86	0.89	0.24	0.23	0.52	0.08	0.00	0.54	53.6
rbai	2018	0.84	0.9	0.24	0.26	0.66	0.11	0.00	0.55	55.28
Aze	2019	0.85	0.91	0.26	0.3	0.90	0.14	0.00	0.59	59.35
	2020	0.86	0.92	0.28	0.33	0.95	0.17	0.00	0.62	61.61
	2016	0.73	0.79	0.76	0.97	0.8	0.09	0.07	0.73	72.7
ia.	2017	0.72	0.79	0.83	0.98	0.86	0.08	0.07	0.74	74.46
eorg	2018	0.86	0.82	0.94	0.98	0.90	0.08	0.08	0.82	82.5
Ğ	2019	0.86	0.85	0.97	0.99	0.85	0.06	0.09	0.84	83.73
	2020	0.88	0.88	1.00	1.00	0.85	0.04	0.09	0.86	85.98
	2016	0.99	0.9	0.4	0.48	0.00	0.89	0.72	0.75	74.78
tan	2017	0.92	0.92	0.55	0.51	0.26	0.67	1.00	0.79	79.25
akhs	2018	0.97	0.93	0.64	0.53	0.8	0.65	0.97	0.87	87.41
<aza< td=""><td>2019</td><td>0.99</td><td>0.96</td><td>0.72</td><td>0.55</td><td>0.9</td><td>0.82</td><td>0.96</td><td>0.93</td><td>93.48</td></aza<>	2019	0.99	0.96	0.72	0.55	0.9	0.82	0.96	0.93	93.48
	2020	1.00	1.00	0.81	0.57	1.00	1.00	0.95	1.00	100
	2016	0.06	0.27	0.29	0.40	0.17	0.55	0.16	0.15	15.22
tan	2017	0.00	0.36	0.36	0.42	0.15	0.48	0.17	0.18	17.66
gyzs	2018	0.26	0.43	0.52	0.41	0.13	0.21	0.18	0.28	28.3
Kyrı	2019	0.34	0.46	0.67	0.41	0.26	0.18	0.2	0.36	35.8
	2020	0.34	0.49	0.82	0.40	0.44	0.14	0.23	0.41	41.28
	2016	0.85	0.27	0.04	0.64	0.00	0.45	0.61	0.38	38.48
olia	2017	0.82	0.29	0.09	0.71	0.1	0.08	0.73	0.39	38.62
ngc	2018	0.85	0.48	0.12	0.70	0.4	0.13	0.44	0.47	47.31
ž	2019	0.85	0.56	0.19	0.69	0.26	0.52	0.45	0.54	54.16
	2020	0.87	0.64	0.26	0.68	0.14	0.91	0.46	0.62	61.89
	2016	0.5	0.06	0.19	0.06	0.26	0.04	0.63	0.13	12.5
ц	2017	0.42	0	0.19	0.08	0.38	0.05	0.76	0.11	10.53
kistä	2018	0.38	0.03	0.43	0.12	0.33	0.05	0.56	0.14	14.2
Ра	2019	0.58	0.08	0.57	0.16	0.44	0.05	0.63	0.27	26.97
	2020	0.51	0.12	0.72	0.20	0.64	0.06	0.71	0.33	32.56
kist n	2016	0.08	0.16	0.21	0.05	0.23	0.06	0.15	0.00	0.00
Taji a	2017	0.07	0.17	0.26	0.00	0.18	0.03	0.21	0.00	0.05

Table 19: Results of PCA Indices Normalized (0–1 and 0–100)

Country	Year	Cost and affordability	Access and infrastructure	Internet quality	Regulations	Digital security	ICT output	Digital FDI	CDDI (0–1)	CDDI (0–100)
	2018	0.40	0.18	0.39	0.04	0.14	0.00	0.26	0.13	13.44
	2019	0.42	0.20	0.52	0.08	0.09	0.01	0.26	0.18	17.82
	2020	0.00	0.21	0.64	0.12	0.03	0.01	0.26	0.08	8.42
	2016	0.30	0.38	0.00	0.07	0.09	0.06	0.14	0.09	8.76
itan	2017	0.50	0.52	0.03	0.06	0.16	0.03	0.12	0.20	20.19
ekis	2018	0.83	0.56	0.07	0.12	0.66	0.00	0.49	0.40	39.94
Uzb	2019	0.80	0.63	0.14	0.18	0.68	0.01	0.43	0.44	43.77
	2020	0.76	0.70	0.2	0.24	0.73	0.01	0.37	0.40	39.62

To check the robustness of the constructed index, we adopted a simple general rule of constructing an index, where several composite digital divide indices (CDDIs) are constructed (cindex\_1), the composite index is constructed using the first two subindices only—that is, using only 'cost and affordability' and 'access and infrastructure'. The second one adds the third subindex (quality) to the first two and constructs a CDDI for the three subindices (cindex\_2). Later, a CDDI is constructed by considering the fourth subindex (regulations) to the first three subindices, and this is labeled cindex\_3. Then digital security is added as the fifth subindex to get a CDDI of five subindices (cindex\_4). Next, cindex\_5 is constructed by introducing the seventh subindex (digital FDI) in addition to the first six. This index is labeled cindex\_6 (CDDI), which integrates all subindices into one cumulative index. The correlation matrix of this final CDDI with all subindices is reported in Table 20, showing a strong positive correlation with all subindices, confirming the reliability of CDDI estimations.

Indicators	Cost and affordability	Access and infrastructure	Internet quality	regulations	Digital security	ICT output	Digital FDI	CDDI (0–1)
Cost and affordability	1		-0.68					
Access and infrastructure	0.74	1.00						
Internet quality	0.19	0.29	1.00					
Regulations	0.51	0.53	0.54	1.00				
Digital security	0.57	0.55	0.54	0.78	1.00			
ICT output	0.34	0.39	0.12	0.32	0.37	1.00		
Digital FDI	0.29	-0.10	0.02	-0.01	0.20	0.54	1.00	
CDDI	0.80	0.81	0.50	0.82	0.86	0.56	0.7	1.00

Table 20: Correlation Matrix of Subindices with Composite Index (CDDI)

The summary of step wise results of the PCA approach considering different combinations of subindices is provided in Table 21. The overall range of CDDI remained consistent in CAREC economies after adding different dimensions. Tables 2A and 2B in Appendix 2 provide detailed results of step wise index construction for interested readers.

Subindex No.	Subindices	Highest eigen value	KMO	Mean	SD	Min	Max
1	Cost and affordability, and access and infrastructure	1.739	0.500	0.000	0.860	-1.400	1.215
2	Cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, and quality	1.831	0.474	0.000	0.875	-1.349	1.311
3	Cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, quality, and regulations	2.394	0.589	0.000	0.904	-1.462	1.524
4	Cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, quality, regulations, and digital security	2.906	0.651	0.000	0.924	-1.399	1.638
5	Cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, quality, regulations, digital security, and ICT output	3.057	0.663	0.000	0.930	-1.418	1.631
6	Cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, quality, regulations, digital security, ICT output, and digital FDI	3.080	0.386	0.000	0.959	-1.507	1.873

Table 21: Summary	of PCA for Different	<b>Combinations of</b>	f Subindices (	Simple to (	General)
Tuble E1. Summary					Generally

Note: Total number of observations in each case is 40.

#### 3.2.4 Summary of PCA Indices

Tables 22 and 23 display countrywise summary statistics of subindices and CDDI for both normalized and non-normalized indices, respectively. The overall results show significant heterogeneity across different dimensions and countries. Notably, the best performing indicators are highlighted with green cell color while the worst performing indicators are highlighted with red cell color as before following the color coding scheme.

Country	Indices	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	Min	Max
Azerl	Cost and affordability	0.859	0.016	0.858	0.007	0.840	0.885
	Access and infrastructure	0.902	0.013	0.903	0.019	0.887	0.919
	Internet quality	0.236	0.039	0.236	0.022	0.175	0.279
	Digital security	0.276	0.039	0.265	0.043	0.231	0.331
paija	Regulations	0.663	0.278	0.660	0.381	0.279	0.951
ne	ICT output	0.112	0.041	0.109	0.058	0.067	0.168
	Digital FDI	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.003
	CDDI	0.562	0.043	0.550	0.050	0.510	0.620
	Cost and affordability	0.811	0.077	0.856	0.133	0.724	0.882
	Access and infrastructure	0.826	0.038	0.820	0.056	0.790	0.879
-	Internet quality	0.900	0.101	0.939	0.139	0.761	1.000
Geo	Digital security	0.984	0.012	0.983	0.017	0.970	1.000
orgia	Regulations	0.850	0.038	0.845	0.011	0.797	0.905
<u> </u>	ICT output	0.069	0.021	0.078	0.022	0.037	0.089
	Digital FDI	0.082	0.009	0.084	0.014	0.072	0.092
	CDDI	0.798	0.059	0.820	0.100	0.730	0.860
	Cost and affordability	0.975	0.032	0.990	0.022	0.920	1.000
	Access and infrastructure	0.942	0.039	0.928	0.049	0.904	1.000
5	Internet quality	0.624	0.158	0.644	0.179	0.400	0.805
ızakhst	Digital security	0.530	0.038	0.532	0.043	0.478	0.575
	Regulations	0.592	0.437	0.803	0.637	0.000	1.000
an	ICT output	0.805	0.150	0.823	0.222	0.646	1.000
	Digital FDI	0.919	0.114	0.959	0.023	0.718	1.000
	CDDI	0.868	0.102	0.870	0.140	0.750	1.000
	Cost and affordability	0.202	0.161	0.262	0.277	0.000	0.345
	Access and infrastructure	0.401	0.087	0.425	0.103	0.274	0.492
5	Internet quality	0.533	0.218	0.522	0.309	0.290	0.820
rgy	Digital security	0.408	0.009	0.407	0.013	0.398	0.421
zsta	Regulations	0.230	0.128	0.166	0.103	0.133	0.443
n	ICT output	0.312	0.188	0.213	0.305	0.141	0.547
	Digital FDI	0.189	0.025	0.184	0.033	0.163	0.225
	CDDI	0.276	0.112	0.280	0.180	0.150	0.410
	Cost and affordability	0.847	0.017	0.849	0.004	0.820	0.868
7	Access and infrastructure	0.447	0.160	0.476	0.262	0.273	0.636
	Internet quality	0.138	0.086	0.119	0.101	0.038	0.258
Ion	Digital security	0.683	0.028	0.691	0.015	0.636	0.707
goli	Regulations	0.180	0.155	0.143	0.156	0.000	0.403
a	ICT output	0.418	0.336	0.450	0.392	0.084	0.911
	Digital FDI	0.540	0.126	0.462	0.158	0.445	0.730
	CDDI	0.480	0.102	0.470	0.150	0.380	0.620
. <i>×</i> o b	Cost and affordability	0.476	0.078	0.498	0.084	0.379	0.578

Table 22: Summary Statistics of Indices (Normalized Data)

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Country	Indices	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	Min	Max
	Access and infrastructure	0.058	0.044	0.063	0.042	0.000	0.118
	Internet quality	0.419	0.232	0.428	0.378	0.189	0.715
	Digital security	0.122	0.056	0.116	0.080	0.063	0.197
	Regulations	0.408	0.145	0.380	0.106	0.256	0.638
	ICT output	0.049	0.005	0.048	0.004	0.042	0.055
	Digital FDI	0.657	0.076	0.634	0.078	0.561	0.756
	CDDI	0.196	0.098	0.140	0.140	0.110	0.330
	Cost and affordability	0.197	0.200	0.082	0.332	0.004	0.423
	Access and infrastructure	0.185	0.021	0.185	0.026	0.159	0.211
-	Internet quality	0.406	0.178	0.395	0.257	0.214	0.642
ajik	Digital security	0.060	0.046	0.053	0.041	0.000	0.123
ista	Regulations	0.135	0.079	0.145	0.092	0.027	0.230
D	ICT output	0.024	0.026	0.015	0.025	0.000	0.064
	Digital FDI	0.228	0.045	0.257	0.044	0.154	0.257
	CDDI	0.078	0.079	0.080	0.130	0.000	0.180
	Cost and affordability	0.638	0.229	0.759	0.299	0.302	0.831
	Access and infrastructure	0.558	0.120	0.565	0.115	0.381	0.698
C	Internet quality	0.088	0.082	0.074	0.112	0.000	0.201
zbel	Digital security	0.132	0.079	0.118	0.115	0.056	0.242
kist	Regulations	0.464	0.310	0.660	0.515	0.090	0.729
an	ICT output	0.024	0.026	0.015	0.025	0.000	0.064
	Digital FDI	0.310	0.168	0.370	0.290	0.124	0.488
	CDDI	0.306	0.153	0.400	0.200	0.090	0.440
	Cost and affordability	0.626	0.310	0.779	0.468	0.000	1.000
	Access and infrastructure	0.540	0.321	0.536	0.641	0.000	1.000
	Internet quality	0.418	0.290	0.326	0.467	0.000	1.000
	Digital security	0.399	0.306	0.365	0.485	0.000	1.000
	Regulations	0.440	0.319	0.355	0.605	0.000	1.000
Total	ICT output	0.227	0.293	0.081	0.287	0.000	1.000
	Digital FDI	0.366	0.308	0.257	0.512	0.000	1.000
	CDDI	0.446	0.283	0.405	0.495	0.000	1.000

Country	Indices	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	Min	Max
A	Cost and affordability	0.638	0.045	0.636	0.018	0.587	0.711
	Access and infrastructure	1.116	0.041	1.118	0.059	1.069	1.167
	Internet quality	-0.511	0.109	-0.514	0.061	-0.683	-0.392
zerk	Digital security	-0.392	0.124	-0.428	0.137	-0.534	-0.217
oaija	Regulations	0.663	0.278	0.660	0.381	0.279	0.951
an	ICT output	0.112	0.041	0.109	0.058	0.067	0.168
	Digital FDI	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.003
	CDDI	0.395	0.141	0.362	0.194	0.231	0.576
	Cost and affordability	0.508	0.211	0.632	0.363	0.269	0.701
	Access and infrastructure	0.882	0.117	0.863	0.174	0.772	1.044
	Internet quality	1.357	0.283	1.466	0.389	0.966	1.638
Geo	Digital security	1.858	0.039	1.856	0.052	1.812	1.908
orgia	Regulations	0.850	0.038	0.845	0.011	0.797	0.905
<u> </u>	ICT output	0.069	0.021	0.078	0.022	0.037	0.089
	Digital FDI	0.082	0.009	0.084	0.014	0.072	0.092
	CDDI	1.193	0.200	1.282	0.313	0.951	1.399
Kazakhst	Cost and affordability	0.956	0.089	0.999	0.058	0.806	1.025
	Access and infrastructure	1.241	0.121	1.197	0.150	1.122	1.418
	Internet quality	0.580	0.445	0.637	0.504	-0.051	1.090
	Digital security	0.415	0.119	0.423	0.135	0.249	0.557
	Regulations	0.592	0.437	0.803	0.637	0.000	1.000
an	ICT output	0.805	0.150	0.823	0.222	0.646	1.000
	Digital FDI	0.919	0.114	0.959	0.023	0.718	1.000
	CDDI	1.433	0.347	1.448	0.481	1.021	1.873
	Cost and affordability	-1.159	0.439	-0.994	0.758	-1.711	-0.768
	Access and infrastructure	-0.427	0.268	-0.353	0.317	-0.818	-0.147
5	Internet quality	0.323	0.614	0.291	0.869	-0.362	1.132
rgy	Digital security	0.028	0.030	0.026	0.043	-0.005	0.068
zsta	Regulations	0.230	0.128	0.166	0.103	0.133	0.443
n	ICT output	0.312	0.188	0.213	0.305	0.141	0.547
	Digital FDI	0.189	0.025	0.184	0.033	0.163	0.225
	CDDI	-0.572	0.380	-0.550	0.613	-0.992	-0.112
	Cost and affordability	0.605	0.048	0.613	0.011	0.531	0.664
	Access and infrastructure	-0.287	0.492	-0.197	0.806	-0.824	0.295
7	Internet quality	-0.787	0.244	-0.841	0.285	-1.070	-0.450
lon	Digital security	0.903	0.089	0.928	0.049	0.751	0.977
goli	Regulations	0.180	0.155	0.143	0.156	0.000	0.403
a	ICT output	0.418	0.336	0.450	0.392	0.084	0.911
	Digital FDI	0.540	0.126	0.462	0.158	0.445	0.730
	CDDI	0.119	0.342	0.092	0.525	-0.206	0.585
× a p	Cost and affordability	-0.409	0.213	-0.349	0.230	-0.676	-0.131

Table 23: Summary Statistics of Indices (without Normalization)

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Country	Indices	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	Min	Max
	Access and infrastructure	-1.487	0.137	-1.470	0.131	-1.664	-1.302
	Internet quality	0.003	0.653	0.026	1.064	-0.646	0.836
	Digital security	-0.882	0.177	-0.899	0.255	-1.070	-0.644
	Regulations	0.408	0.145	0.380	0.106	0.256	0.638
	ICT output	0.049	0.005	0.048	0.004	0.042	0.055
	Digital FDI	0.657	0.076	0.634	0.078	0.561	0.756
	CDDI	-0.853	0.331	-1.027	0.489	-1.151	-0.406
	Cost and affordability	-1.173	0.548	-1.487	0.910	-1.701	-0.553
	Access and infrastructure	-1.095	0.063	-1.095	0.079	-1.174	-1.015
-	Internet quality	-0.034	0.499	-0.066	0.723	-0.574	0.629
ajik	Digital security	-1.079	0.146	-1.101	0.130	-1.269	-0.879
ista	Regulations	0.135	0.079	0.145	0.092	0.027	0.230
5	ICT output	0.024	0.026	0.015	0.025	0.000	0.064
	Digital FDI	0.228	0.045	0.257	0.044	0.154	0.257
	CDDI	-1.238	0.269	-1.222	0.452	-1.507	-0.904
	Cost and affordability	0.035	0.625	0.366	0.815	-0.884	0.561
	Access and infrastructure	0.056	0.371	0.076	0.357	-0.489	0.487
Uz ∪	Internet quality	-0.930	0.232	-0.968	0.316	-1.177	-0.610
bel	Digital security	-0.849	0.250	-0.895	0.364	-1.091	-0.501
kista	Regulations	0.464	0.310	0.660	0.515	0.090	0.729
n	ICT output	0.024	0.026	0.015	0.025	0.000	0.064
	Digital FDI	0.310	0.168	0.370	0.290	0.124	0.488
	CDDI	-0.477	0.515	-0.167	0.668	-1.211	-0.027
	Cost and affordability	0.000	0.849	0.420	1.279	-1.711	1.025
Tatal	Access and infrastructure	0.000	0.990	-0.013	1.976	-1.664	1.418
	Internet quality	0.000	0.816	-0.260	1.314	-1.177	1.638
	Digital security	0.000	0.973	-0.111	1.541	-1.269	1.908
TOLAI	Regulations	0.440	0.319	0.355	0.605	0.000	1.000
	ICT output	0.227	0.293	0.081	0.287	0.000	1.000
	Digital FDI	0.366	0.308	0.257	0.512	0.000	1.000
	CDDI	0.000	0.959	-0.134	1.675	-1.507	1.873

#### 3.2.5 Explanation of PCA Indices

Based on the above summary statistics, Table 24 ranks each indicator in sample countries; higher rank implies lower digital gap, while lower rank higher digital gap. Starting from top performing (lower digital gap/divide) countries, Kazakhstan secured first rank in overall sample economies with a cumulative average score of 0.868 (86.8 percent) against the average score of CAREC economies (0.445). The score of subindices exhibits that cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, digital FDI, and ICT output are top performing indicators with an average score of 0.975, 0.942, 0.919, 0.805, respectively. Internet quality (0.624), regulations (0.592), and digital security (0.530) possess lower scores, which implies a relatively higher digital gap. Manifestly, out of eight subindicators, Kazakhstan secured its distinction in the top six indicators. Table 20 visualizes the same, where the strong green color across different dimensions confirms a relatively higher digital penetration (lower digital divide).

The second-best performing country in the CAREC region is Georgia by secured second rank with a cumulative average score of 0.798 (79.8 percent). The results exhibit that digital security, internet quality, regulations, access and infrastructure, and cost and affordability are high performing indicators with an average score of 0.984, 0.900, 0.850, 0.826, 0.811, respectively. ICT output (0.069) and digital FDI (0.082) show the lowest scores, implying a relatively higher digital gap. Tables 18 and 20 draw the same, where a strong red or light green color implies the potential digital space to be filled by effective measures in the respective indicator. The CDDI ranges from 0.730 to 0.850, confirming a relatively lower digital divide when compared with the maximum value of 1.

Azerbaijan secured third rank in overall sample countries with a cumulative average score of 0.562 (56.2 percent). The score of subindices exhibits that cost and affordability, and access and infrastructure are top performing indicators reflecting a relatively lower digital divide. In contrast, digital FDI, ICT output, internet quality, and regulations are the worst performing indicators, suggesting a higher relative backwardness. In the last four years, CDDI has progressively improved and ranges between 0.510 to 0.620. Similarly, other subindices also improved; however, digital security has displayed the highest improvement in the last few years.

Although Mongolia is the fourth best performing country in the CAREC region with a cumulative score of 0.480 (48 percent), it still shows a significant digital gap in internet quality (0.138), digital security (0.180), ICT output (0.418), and digital FDI (0.540). Tables 18 and 20 display that most of the indicators are either light green or medium red, implying a significant potential for digital development in those indicators. Notably, CDDI has significantly improved from 0.380 to 0.620 in the last few years; that said, there is still room for improvement in the digital space. However, the average score of Mongolia is higher than the CAREC average score (0.445).

Uzbekistan ranks fifth in terms of digital development with an average CDDI score of 0.306 (30.6 percent). Out of seven subindices, four indices are much lower (red), confirming higher levels of digital divide such as ICT output (0.024), internet quality (0.088), regulations (0.132), and digital FDI (0.310). Cost and affordability (0.638), and access and infrastructure (0.558) also show lower scores, followed by digital security (0.464). Notably, the CDDI score has improved from 0.090 to 0.440 in the last five years; however, it is still lagging behind the average CDDI score (0.445) of the CAREC countries.

Kyrgyzstan secured sixth rank in its CDDI score—0.276 (27.6 percent). A relatively lower score demonstrates a substantial digital gap as compared to the earlier countries, which display on average a 50 percent level of digital development. Kyrgyzstan's score is almost half of the CAREC average score (0.445). In Tables 18 and 20 most of the indicators are highlighted in red, indicating that the highest gap

exists in digital FDI (0.189), digital security (0.230), and ICT output (0.312). Similarly, internet quality (0.533), regulations (0.408), and access and infrastructure (0.401) also show a significant digital gap as their values are also far behind the optimal values of the best performing country in the sample. The CDDI ranges from 0.150 to 0.410, the significant push required in all dimensions to develop an inclusive digital framework.

Pakistan is the second least performing country in the CAREC region with a cumulative score of 0.196 (19.6 percent), significantly lower than the CAREC average (0.445) and other member countries. Among all indicators, access and infrastructure (0.058) and regulations (0.122) exhibit the lowest scores, followed by cost and affordability (0.476), internet quality (0.419), and digital security (0.408). The range of CDDI is 0.110 to 0.330, implying a substantial digital gap in major dimensions. Notably, all indicators are lower than the CAREC average given in Table 22. These results imply the need for a government intervention to improve regulations, access and infrastructure, and ICT output.

Tajikistan is the least performing country in terms of digital development in the CAREC region. The average CDDI score is just 0.078 (7.8 percent) against the average score of CAREC economies (0.445). Almost every subindicator is highlighted with red color (lowest values and higher gap), implying that Tajikistan lags behind its partnering countries. It shows the lowest scores in cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, digital security, digital FDI, ICT output, and regulations.

Indicators	Azerbaijan	Georgia	Kazakhstan	Kyrgyzstan	Mongolia	Pakistan	Tajikistan	Uzbekistan
Cost and affordability	5	7	8	2	6	3	1	4
Access and								
infrastructure	7	6	8	3	4	1	2	5
Internet quality	3	8	6	7	2	5	4	1
Regulations	4	8	6	5	7	2	1	3
Digital security	7	6	8	3	2	4	1	5
ICT output	6	3	8	5	7	4	2	1
Digital FDI	1	2	8	3	6	7	4	5
Cumulative DDI	6	7	8	3	5	2	1	4

Table 24: Country Ranking in Different Subindices and Composite Index

Note: Highest rank/green highlighted cells show lower digital divide while lowest rank/red highlighted cells indicate higher digital divide

#### 3.2.6 Graphical Analysis of Subindices and Composite Index

The countrywise radar charts of all subindices and the CDDI are provided in Figure 6. All subindices, including cost, access, quality, regulations, digital security, technology output, digital FDI, and the composite digital divide index are visualized over different time periods (from 2016 until 2020) to get an idea of how the indices evolve across different CAREC economies in the given time. The whole idea of radar charts is to plot all subindices across different axes with a common central point, all plotted in a 2D plane. An advantage of a radar chart is that one can compare all subindices across different countries and across different periods. The following visuals display that there is no absolute divide in any country. For example, Azerbaijan shows a lower digital divide in cost, access, and digital security, and a higher divide in quality, regulations, digital FDI, and technology output. In contrast, Pakistan shows a higher divide in digital access and digital cost. And Mongolia is less divided in terms of regulations; however, it is lagging behind in terms of digital security, access, and quality. On the other hand, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan are digitally divided in almost each digital development dimension. Kazakhstan and Georgia have a relatively lower digital divide. The former is lagging behind in its regulations score while the latter is lagging behind in digital FDI and technological output.





Note: Cost implies 'cost and affordability' and access implies 'access and infrastructure'

#### 3.2.7 Identified Gaps in CAREC Economies

The results indicate significant heterogeneity in the digital divide across various dimensions in the CAREC countries. Therefore, the prevailing gaps are specific to each country, enabling the creation of an inclusive digital framework for each country.

#### Tajikistan, Pakistan, Kyrgyzstan

- Higher cost of internet limits a large segment of society to remain digitally disconnected. Affordability is one of the main factors that reduces internet penetration. It has the lowest score in 'cost of internet' compared to other CAREC countries.
- Weak access and infrastructure is the most vulnerable segment of the digital divide, which requires a substantial amount of fixed asset investment from domestic and foreign sources.
- Weak institutional quality and business regulations failed to create a conducive environment for individuals and businesses to adopt and disseminate digital technologies on a national scale.
- Digital security is another area that is lagging behind—particularly in Tajikistan—which caused e-commerce failure, bad reputation, consumer mistrust, reputational damages, cyber-attacks, financial burglaries, and so on.
- No export diversification and almost zero ICT related output, which indicates a lack of basic education, industrial structure, and absorption capacity to adopt, imitate, and produce digital technologies.

#### Uzbekistan, Mongolia, Azerbaijan

- Lower internet quality leads to poor service deliveries in e-commerce, inefficient logistics, and disruption in daily business operations. Failure to integrate effectively with virtual education, learning, and reverse technology spillovers.
- Digital security is another gray area in Mongolia, while Azerbaijan and Uzbekistan possess a moderate level of digital security.
- Weak institutional framework of these countries is one of the key socioeconomic challenges, which create bottlenecks for business operations, encourage rent seeking behavior and corruption, and discourage innovation and adoption of digital technologies.
- Uzbekistan and Mongolia were lagging behind in access and infrastructure, failed to embrace reasonable digital FDI inflows, and consequently have higher ICT infrastructure gaps.
- ICT related industrial output can transform the industry from primary exports (natural resources) to technology exports. Many CAREC economies are rich in natural resources and less diversified in exports, translating into lower demand for ICT skills and the job market.

#### Kazakhstan and Georgia

• Although these countries are the best performing countries in the CAREC region and report a lower digital divide than their counterparts, compared with other emerging countries such as China or the EU, there is significant potential for digital improvement in digital access, infrastructure, quality, and security. Also, Kazakhstan is lagging behind in its institutional quality score, while Georgia is the only exception and the best performing country in institutional governance in the CAREC region. However, it has the lowest score in technology related output. Thus, the best performing countries in the CAREC region are also lagging behind in specific dimensions compared to other developed regions.

#### 3.2.8 Comparison of Key Digital Divide Indicators

Against this backdrop, it is imperative to compare key digital divide indicators with other leading regions or countries like the EU and China. Thus, we have visualized key raw indicators to compare with other regions. Figures 7 and 8 draw the cost of the internet in terms of broadband and mobile baskets in the last three years. The UN Broadband Commission set the broadband and mobile cost targets at no more than 2 percent of the average monthly income in any country by 2026. But increasing income inequality and poverty in the CAREC region have reiterated the importance of internet costs. Figures 7 and 8 set a 2 percent threshold on income and disclose that China and Europe (average) are falling within the threshold limit in both baskets, while most of the CAREC economies and Asia pacific (average) are also falling above the maximum threshold.





Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data



Figure 8: Mobile Broadband Basket as a Percentage of GNI Per Capita

Although Kazakhstan and Georgia secured the highest ranking in access and infrastructure, they are still lagging behind compared with China and the EU. Figures 9 and 10 display broadband subscriptions and mobile subscriptions, indicating that Europe (blue dotted line) and China (red dotted line) are far above the CAREC countries. Notably, the best performing countries in the CAREC region are also far from the emerging and developed regions, as can be observed between the curve's gap. However, all CAREC economies are showing upward trends in digital access, and the gap is squeezing over time.

Figure 9: Broadband Subscriptions per 100 Inhabitants



Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data

Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data





Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data





Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data



Figure 12: Population Covered by at least a 4G Mobile Network

Figure 11 shows that the percentage of internet users in Kazakhstan and Azerbaijan is compatible with the EU, while other countries lagged behind. Most of the CAREC economies are falling lower than the curve of Asia Pacific, implying a relatively lower percentage of internet users within and across the regions. For digital infrastructure, Figure 12 shows that China and EU are leading in terms of digital infrastructure (4G network), and CAREC economies are progressing in the last few years and squeezing the gap with developed regions. Recently, only Georgia achieved almost 100% coverage of 4G network, followed by Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan.

### 4. Conclusion and Policy Recommendations

#### 4.1 Conclusion

In today's virtual world, access to digital technologies is equally important for all. Despite its significant importance, 50 percent of the world's population is still unconnected. This gap needs to be addressed between and within countries to ensure equitable gains from digitalization. In 2015, the United Nations designated 'access to the internet and information and communication technologies' as a dedicated target of SDG 9c. To realize these goals, the first step is to estimate and highlight digitally divided areas and then recommend possible solutions. Against this backdrop, this study intends to estimate the digital divide between CAREC economies using recent indicators collected from primary and secondary sources. First, this study developed a detailed questionnaire collected from Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan and obtained valuable information from ministries and institutions about digital infrastructure and digital payments, e-commerce, internet access, and digital economy. The data of all indicators are scaled between 0 to 100 (0 specify higher digital divide, while 100 specify lowest digital divide).

The overall findings expose the highest digital gaps in e-payments and e-commerce across all sample countries. In contrast, digital access and infrastructure show a moderate gap; however, significant heterogeneity exists at country level outcomes. The average score report that Azerbaijan (59.9) and Uzbekistan (57.8) are relatively less digitally divided economies compared to Kyrgyzstan (53.2), Pakistan

Source: Author's drawing using ITU (2020) data

(50.4), Tajikistan (45.6), and Afghanistan (39.0). However, there is substantial heterogeneity across subindicators.

Notably, these rankings are subject to the dimensions and indicators to be chosen for measuring the digital divide. A few countries are performing in one dimension and lagging in another, which prompts us to discuss each dimension of the digital divide. For example, Afghanistan is lagging across all indicators, and the highest digital divide is observed in internet access (29.2), e-commerce (31.3), and digital payments (45.8). These indicator scores are far lower than the CAREC average in respective dimensions. Similarly, Tajikistan is the second most digitally divided country in the CAREC region, and the highest digital gap exists in e-commerce (34.4), internet access (37.5), digital payment (50), and digital infrastructure (60.7). The third most digitally divided country is Kyrgyzstan, which shows the highest gap in e-commerce (37.5) and digital payments (50). However, Kyrgyzstan secured a reasonable score in digital infrastructure (71.4) and internet access (54.2). Pakistan is the fourth digitally divided country in our sample and reports a significant digital gap in e-commerce (34.4), digital payments (54.2), and internet access (41.7). Similar insights are observed in Uzbekistan except for internet access (75.0), which produces a relatively higher score. Finally, Azerbaijan is the best performing country in selected CAREC economies and secured the highest score in digital infrastructure (75.0), followed by internet access (70.8). Nonetheless, the digital gap in e-commerce (43.8) and digital payments (50) is still higher.

Although the above results provide valuable insights (subjective and objective) about the key indicators of the digital economy, several non-infrastructure indicators affect digital penetration across countries. Manifestly, digital divide is a multidimensional phenomenon, which requires an inclusive assessment based on several socioeconomic and regulatory factors. Apart from that, there is a need to access yearly trends in multiple domains to compare the convergence of economies towards digital development. Therefore, this study constructed a composite digital divide index (CDDI) that offers an inclusive picture of the digital divide in the CAREC region. We apply PCA on secondary data of eight CAREC economies: Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, Pakistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan, while Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, and China are dropped owing to lack of data. CDDI integrates all possible dimensions subject to data availability, including cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, internet quality, digital security, regulations, digital FDI, and ICT output. The PCA index (CDDI) results are normalized between 0 to 1 (higher to lower digital divide), which shows that Kazakhstan and Georgia are the least digitally divided countries in the CAREC region with a cumulative average score of 0.868 and 0.798, respectively. In contrast, Azerbaijan and Mongolia are moderately divided in the digital spectrum, with an average score of 0.562 and 0.480, respectively. Moreover, Uzbekistan (0.306), Kyrgyzstan (0.276), Pakistan (0.196), and Tajikistan (0.078) are the least performing countries in terms of cumulative digital development in the CAREC region. Notably, the results of subindicators show different ranks compared to overall CDDI.

In Kazakhstan, cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, digital FDI, ICT output are top performing indicators with an average score of 0.975, 0.942, 0.919, 0.805, respectively. Internet quality (0.624), digital security (0.592), and regulations (0.530) possess a lower score, which implies a relatively higher digital gap in these domains. Similarly, in Georgia, regulations, internet quality, digital security, access and infrastructure, cost and affordability are high performing indicators with an average score of 0.984, 0.900, 0.850, 0.826, 0.811, respectively. ICT output (0.069), digital FDI (0.082) show the lowest score, implying a relatively higher digital gap. As the third best performing country in CDDI, Azerbaijan shows that cost and affordability (0.859) and access and infrastructure (0.902) are top performing indicators, reflecting a relatively lower digital divide. In contrast, ICT output (0.112), quality of internet services (0.236), and

regulations (0.663) are the worst performing indicators, suggesting a relatively higher digital gap in these domains.

Mongolia shows a significant digital gap in internet quality (0.138), digital security (0.180), ICT output (0.418), and digital FDI (0.540). However, the average CDDI score has significantly improved from 0.380 to 0.620 from 2016 to 2020. In Uzbekistan, ICT output (0.024), internet quality (0.088), regulations (0.132), and digital FDI (0.310) show the highest backwardness, while cost and affordability (0.638), and access and infrastructure (0.558) report a moderate gap followed by digital security (0.464). Notably, the CDDI score has improved from 0.090 to 0.440 in the last five years; however, it is still lagging behind the average CDDI score (0.4455) of CAREC countries. The average CDDI score of Kyrgyzstan (0.276) is almost half of the average CDDI score (0.4455) of the CAREC region. Almost every indicator exhibits a lower score, such as internet quality (0.533), regulations (0.408), and access and infrastructure (0.401), digital FDI (0.189), digital security (0.230), ICT output (0.312). Despite that, CDDI has shown an upward trend in the last five years, and its score increased from 0.150 to 0.410. As the second least performing country in the CAREC region, Pakistan's average CDDI score is 0.196, significantly lower than the CAREC average (0.445). Most of the subindicators have shown lower scores, such as access and infrastructure (0.058) and regulations (0.122), cost and affordability (0.476), internet quality (0.419), and digital security (0.408). Tajikistan is the least performing country in CDDI score (0.078) against the average score of CAREC economies (0.445). The score of all Tajikistan's subindicators is lower than the CAREC average. For example, cost and affordability, access and infrastructure, digital security, digital FDI, ICT output, and regulations have shown index scores 0.197, 0.185, 0.060, 0.228, 0,024, 0.135, respectively. These scores imply that Tajikistan falls behind in almost every indicator. For interregional comparison, we have compared key indicators of CAREC counties with Asia Pacific, Europe, and China and found that almost all CAREC economies have a significant digital gap. Even the best performing CAREC countries, Kazakhstan and Georgia, have a substantial digital divide compared with Europe and China.

Although the output from both methods (questionnaire and PCA index) is partially varied owing to the diverse nature of indicators and integration of yearly trends. However, both procedures produce unlike features of the same phenomena, which indicates that the digital divide not only persists in digital infrastructure and access, but also in socioeconomic factors such as internet cost and quality, overall business and political regulations, and digital security.

#### **4.2 Policy Implications**

Based on the estimated digital divide across various dimensions, the following are some brief policy recommendations.

- 1. Digital Infrastructure
  - a. Digital infrastructure is a basic foundation of the digital divide on which subsequent gaps formed. Thus, expansion of internet (4G) coverage across the whole territory and test the launch of 5G networks. For this, public–private partnership is an optimal solution to fund and manage infrastructure expansion projects. Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, Mongolia, Uzbekistan, and Pakistan are falling behind their peer countries in 4G network coverage. Although the gap is squeezing; however, it needs substantial investment to speed up the process.
  - b. Government needs to allocate dedicated funds or subsidize ICT industries to develop business-oriented infrastructure for e-commerce development—transmission lines, network stations, and compatibility with the existing digital network (all countries).
  - c. Establish backbone networks, internet exchange points, data centers, and the cloud (all countries).
  - d. Replace conventional cable-based transmissions with fiber optic to increase internet (upload/download) speed (Mbps) (Afghanistan, Pakistan, Tajikistan).
  - e. Encourage multinational firms to invest in the (digital FDI) ICT sector by offering lucrative tax rebates and swift approvals for new ventures from respective ministries through one window operations (all countries).
- 2. Digital Payments
  - a. Ensure the wide range of major payment methods used worldwide to sell and pay for goods on the major marketplaces (all countries).
  - b. Strengthen the legal framework for cashless payments, implement programs and marketing campaigns to increase the volume of cashless payments (all countries).
  - c. Increase the use of digital technologies in social spheres (all countries).
  - d. Introduce the drive of virtual economy across the whole supply chain (manufacturing, wholesaling, retailing), where each transaction pair will be connected through a digital framework.
  - e. Government may follow the famous quote 'charity begins with home' to expand digital penetration by restricting all public offices to make virtual payments, documents submissions, clearance of contracts, salaries disbursements, financial appraisals, claims, and so on.
- 3. E-Commerce
  - a. Develop a dedicated e-commerce framework (development strategy, programs) aligned with SDG 9c (all countries).
  - b. Support funding for startups and small businesses especially engaged in e-trade activities (all countries).
  - c. Developing a digital e-commerce platform meeting the international standards for cross border trade (all countries).
  - d. Work on strengthening consumer protection issues (all countries):
    - Return of goods purchased online
    - Introduce e-court system in charge of e-trade disputes
  - e. Further development of e-commerce infrastructure:
    - Implementation of the pilot project EU4Digital Virtual warehouse in CAREC economies to develop cross border trade between CAREC and European countries.

- Make appropriate measures in legislation to ensure the use of international payment methods and cards (all countries).
- f. Introduce cross border electronic data exchange between customs agencies (Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan)
- g. Introduce 'green transport corridor' system/approach (Afghanistan, Uzbekistan).
- h. Ensure the use of digital services, especially e-signature for cross border transactions (all countries except for Azerbaijan)
- 4. Internet Access
  - a. Weak access and infrastructure are the most vulnerable segment of the digital divide, which requires a substantial amount of fixed asset investment from domestic and foreign sources. It also relies upon consumer buying capacity, basic education, and skills to learn, adapt, and utilize IOTs. Afghanistan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, Uzbekistan, and Mongolia have a higher divide in internet access and infrastructure, which entails effective government intervention to tackle.
  - b. Increase the access to computers at household level. For this, financial institutions may offer consumer loans and provide computers, laptops, smartphones, printers in easy instalments. Besides laptops and computers, ICT equipment can be zero taxed to decrease retail prices or promote local assembling.
  - c. Introduced lucrative household internet packages. Particularly in those areas, where exiting digital infrastructure is underutilized as a major cost of internet service providers has pertained to fixed capital investment.
  - d. Conduct wide awareness raising campaigns to:
    - Educate people (consumers and businesses) on the use of the internet, online services, payment procedures, making online transactions, and enabling trust in virtual trading.
    - Increase the level of public confidence in digital transactions
  - e. Review and reduce internet tariffs to increase internet usage and the number of active internet users.
- 5. Internet Cost and Affordability
  - a. Regularization of internet cost (less than 2 percent threshold of gross national income) as per target of UN Broadband Commission. Notably, the cost of the internet is too high in Afghanistan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan. In the CAREC regions, only China, Georgia, and Azerbaijan are exceptional countries where internet costs are within the accepted threshold.
  - b. Sales tax waiver for consumers on recharge of mobile and broadband internet packages can help to reduce internet cost.
  - c. A national blanket policy for affordable internet is required to achieve low-cost internet targets.
- 6. Digital Security
  - a. Cyber security regulations need to be implemented and updated regularly on legal grounds. Most of the CAREC economies secured the lowest score in digital security. In particular, Afghanistan, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, Tajikistan, and Turkmenistan are the most vulnerable countries in e-commerce safety, trust in government websites and apps, trust in information from social media, trust in non-government websites and apps, and trust in online privacy. Therefore, an inclusive digital security policy is recommended that adheres to all these concerns.
  - b. On technical grounds, increase the number of secured internet servers.
  - c. At an organizational level, implementation of the company's cyber security framework.
  - d. Establish a dedicated hierarchy of cyber security under IT ministry for evaluations.

- e. Increase cyber security awareness to control scams, hacking, and digital frauds.
- f. Public–private partnership is dominant in designing and implementing national cyber security frameworks and their implementations.
- 7. Regulations and governance
  - a. The CAREC region is more susceptible to overall regulations and governance. Except for Georgia, none of the countries secured a positive score in the institutional regulation index (-2.5 + 2.5 worse to best). Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, Tajikistan, Pakistan, Uzbekistan, and Kyrgyzstan have lower institutional quality and business regulations, thus failing to create a conducive environment for individuals and businesses to adopt and disseminate digital technologies.
  - b. Encourage conducive environment for individuals and businesses through:
    - i. Efficient legal system and property rights protection.
    - ii. Consistent policies and inclusive digital regulations for the continuation of long term digital development.
    - iii. Legal provision for continuation and implementation of digital development projects.
    - iv. A certain percentage of the annual public budget may allocate to digital infrastructure and access across underdeveloped (rural) and digital backward areas and industries.
- 8. Regional Integration
  - a. Regional integration is one of the main factors that help countries overcome divisions that impede the flow of people, technology, ideas, goods, and services. Disintegration leads to a higher digital divide, particularly in developing economies. Thus, sequester measures are required to integrate CAREC economies with other technology leading countries. For this, the harmonization of regulatory policies is a steppingstone to promote and establish an inclusive connectivity network for virtual and physical technology transfer.
  - b. Regional integration helps to increase export diversification through technology spillovers from source to host countries. Most CAREC economies are less diversified, embodied with lower technological levels, operating at lower end economic models with a heavy reliance on natural resources, and are exports of primary products. Therefore, regional integration in trade, investment, connectivity, institutional, and social aspects help to remove these bottlenecks, leading to higher technology spillovers from technology leaders and therefore lower digital backwardness.

#### 4.3 Limitations and Future Directions

This study attempts to estimate possible dimensions of the digital divide in selected countries; however, there are a few limitations that can be considered for future projects/studies:

- 1. The study was conducted within a limited time and owing to higher stringency measures and limited data availability, only selected CAREC economies were evaluated. Future projects may expand to all CAREC economies, and a comparative analysis would be performed with digitally advanced countries.
- 2. Although the questionnaire included over 80 questions in multiple domains, only 37 of them were collected for digital gap assessment. Future studies may consider those remaining uncollected indicators or introduce new indicators (replacing some indicators) to fully reflect the digital gap situation in the CAREC region.
- 3. The digital divide is a multidimensional phenomenon and includes various dimensions and socioeconomic indicators that are not evaluated in this study, such as poverty, income inequality, gender inequality, household income, human capital development, budgetary allocations in ICT sector, R&D allocations, global FDI in ICT industry, education, and skills level of inhabitants, and taxation policies of the ICT sector. Therefore, future projects may expand the cumulative digital divide index considering new dimensions of digital divide.
- 4. This study estimated the digital divide using national level aggregate indicators and did not incorporate the digital gap within a country considering income inequality, gender inequality, and rural–urban inequality. Future projects may study subnational or regional digital differences within a country based on suggested indicators.
- 5. It would be advisable to provide an instrument (program) implementing the proposed method (for questionnaire data processing and cumulative digital divide index) so that this would not be a single-use study but could be used when new data is acquired (for example, next year), and so that the list of subindicators could be altered and new indicators could be taken into account if necessary. Moreover, the proposed digital divide index can be estimated yearly to evaluate the increase or decrease in digital development.

### References

- Abecassis, D., Morgan, R., & Osman, Sh. (2018). *Infrastructure investment by Online service providers*. Retrieved from https://www.analysysmason.com/contentassets/8f975fb4e2b34ca18f31825ce38df24a/infrastructur e-investment-by-online-service-providers---20-dec-2018---web.pdf
- 2) Alshammri, F., & Pan, J. (2021). Moving dynamic principal component analysis for non-stationary multivariate time series. *Computational Statistics*, 1-41. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00180-021-01081-8
- 3) An, H., Razzaq, A., Haseeb, M., & Mihardjo, L. W. (2021). The role of technology innovation and people's connectivity in testing environmental Kuznets curve and pollution heaven hypotheses across the Belt and Road host countries: new evidence from Method of Moments Quantile Regression. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(5), 5254-5270. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11356-020-10775-3
- 4) Baker McKenzie. (2021). *The Rise of Digital Infrastructure*. Retrieved from https://www.bakermckenzie.com/-/media/files/insight/publications/2021/06/the-rise-of-digitalinfrastructure--data-centres\_06\_2021.pdf?la=en
- 5) Baliamoune-Lutz, M. (2003). An Analysis of the Determinants and Effects of ICT Diffusion in Developing Countries. Information Technology for Development, 151-169. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1002/itdj.1590100303
- 6) Baller, S., Dutta, S., & Lanvin, B. (2016). The Global Information Technology Report 2016 Innovating in the Digital Economy. Geneva: WEF. Retrieved from https://www3.weforum.org/docs/GITR2016/WEF\_GITR\_Full\_Report.pdf
- 7) Baloch Sh.M., & Musyani Z. (2020). Pakistan's Great Digital Divide Retrieved from https://thediplomat.com/2020/07/pakistans-great-digital-divide/
- 8) Ben, S., Bosc, R., Jiao, J., Li, W., Simonelli, F., & Zhang, R. (2017). *Digital infrastructure: overcoming the digital divide in China and the European union*. Centre for European Policy Studies. Retrieved from https://www.ceps.eu/ceps-publications/digital-infrastructure-overcoming-digital-divide-china-and-european-union/
- 9) Brock, A. (2014). Interrogating information access: Quantitative and qualitative research on digital divides. New media & society, 16(5), 871-875. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1461444814530089
- 10) Braesemann, F., & Stephany, F. (2020). *Measuring Digital Development with Online Data: Digital Economies in Eastern Europe and Central Asia*. Center for Open Science. Retrieved from https://ideas.repec.org/p/osf/socarx/f9jqh.html
- 11) Chakravorti, B. (2021). How to Close the Digital Divide in the U.S. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2021/07/how-to-close-the-digital-divide-in-the-u-s
- 12) CAREC Institute. (2021). Policy Brief: E-commerce Infrastructure Development in CAREC. CAREC. Retrieved from https://www.carecinstitute.org/publications/policy-brief-e-commerce-infrastructure-development-in-carec/
- 13) CAREC & ADB. (2021). *E-commerce in CAREC Countries Laws and Policies*. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/725671/e-commerce-carec-laws-policies.pdf
- 14) Centre of Development Strategy. (2020). *Harakatlar Strategiyasi Haqida* [About The Strategy of Action]. Retrieved from https://strategy.uz/index.php?static=strategy\_actions
- 15) Chamber of Commerce and Industry of the Republic of Tajikistan. (n.d.). Аналитические данные о притоке иностранных инвестиций в экономику Республики Таджикистан в период 2007-2015 г. [Analytical data on foreign investment inflow into the economy of the Republic of Tajikistan for the period 2007-2015]. Retrieved from http://tpp.tj/businessguide2017/rus/pdf/%D0%90%D0%BD%D0%B0%D0%B8%D1%82%D0%B8%D1%87%D0%B5

%D1%81%D0%BA%D0%B8%D0%B5%20%D0%B4%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%BD%D1%8B%D0%B5%20% D0%BE%20%D0%BF%D1%80%D0%B8%D1%82%D0%BE%D0%BA%D0%B5%20%D0%B8%D0%BD%D0 %BE%D1%81%D1%82%D1%80%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%BD%D1%88%D1%85.pdf

- 16) Dhaundiyal, P. (2021). Taxing E-Commerce: Its Challenges and Future Prospects–A Comparative Analysis. In *Research Anthology on E-Commerce Adoption, Models, and Applications for Modern Business* (pp. 1733-1761). IGI Global. Retrieved from https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/taxing-ecommerce/199941
- 17) Doong, S. H., & Ho, S. C. (2012). The impact of ICT development on the global digital divide. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 11(5), 518-533. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1567422312000166#:~:text=ICT%20has%20bro ught%20new%20ways,countries%20in%20many%20other%20ways.
- 18) García-Escribano, M. (2020). Low Internet Access Driving Inequality. *IMF Blog*. https://blogs.imf.org/2020/06/29/low-internet-access-driving-inequality/
- 19) EEP. (2019). Study on monitoring the Digital Economy and Society in the Eastern European Partner Countries. Retrieved from: https://europa.eu/capacity4dev/hiqstep/documents?sort=changed&order=desc&gterm%5B0%5D= 26164&items per page=25
- 20) EIU. (2018). The Inclusive Internet Index 2018. Retrieved from https://theinclusiveinternet.eiu.com/
- 21) EU4Digital. (2021). eCommerce report Recommendations proposed for eCommerce environment harmonisation in the EaP countries: Republic of Azerbaijan. Retrieved from https://eufordigital.eu/library/ecommerce-report-recommendations-proposed-for-ecommerce-environment-harmonisation-in-the-eap-countries-republic-of-azerbaijan/
- 22) European Commission. (2020). The International Digital Economy and Society Index (I-DESI) 2020 report. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/document.cfm?doc\_id=72352
- 23) Farooqi, Z., Yaseen, M. R., Anwar, S., & Makhdum, M. S. A. (2020). Determinants of information and communication technology (ICT) adoption in developing countries. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, *13*(39), 4116-4126. Retrieved from https://indjst.org/articles/determinants-of-information-and-communication-technology-ict-adoption-in-developing-countries#:~:text=ICT%20imports%20and%20Government%20effectiveness,and%20high%20income %20developing%20countries.
- 24) García Zaballos, A., Iglesias, E., & Adamowicz, A. (2019). The impact of digital infrastructure on the sustainable development goals: a study for selected Latin American and Caribbean countries. *Inter-American Development Bank: Washington, DC, USA*. Retrieved from https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/document/The\_Impact\_of\_Digital\_Infrastructure \_on\_the\_Sustainable\_Development\_Goals\_A\_Study\_for\_Selected\_Latin\_American\_and\_Caribbean\_ Countries\_en\_en.pdf
- 25) Government of Azerbaijan. 2016. *Strategic Roadmap for Development of Telecommunications and Information Technologies in Azerbaijan Republic*. Baku Retrieved from https://monitoring.az/assets/upload/files/6683729684f8895c1668803607932190.pdf
- 26) Government of Tajikistan. (2016). *National Development Strategy of the Republic of Tajikistan for the Period up to 2030*. Retrieved from https://nafaka.tj/images/zakoni/new/strategiya\_2030\_en.pdf
- 27) Government of Tajikistan. (2019). *Concept of Digital Economy in Tajikistan*. Retrieved from https://policy.asiapacificenergy.org/sites/default/files/Concept%20of%20the%20Digital%20Econom y%20in%20the%20Republic%20of%20Tajikistan%20%28EN%29.pdf
- 28) Government of Uzbekistan. (2020). Указ Президента Республики Узбекистан Об Утверждении Стратегии «Цифровой Узбекистан-2030» и Мерах по ее Эффективной Реализации [Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan On Approval of the Strategy "Digital Uzbekistan-2030" and Measures for its Effective Implementation]. Retrieved from https://lex.uz/docs/5031048

- 29) GSMA. (2019). The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity 2019. Retrieved from https://www.gsmaintelligence.com/research/?file=b9a6e6202ee1d5f787cfebb95d3639c5&downloa d
- 30) GSMA. (2021). *The Mobile Economy 2021.* Retrieved from https://www.gsma.com/mobileeconomy/wpcontent/uploads/2021/07/GSMA MobileEconomy2021 3.pdf
- 31) Gunkel, D. J. (2003). Second Thoughts: Toward a Critique of the Digital Divide. *New Media & Society*, 5(4), 499-522. DOI: 10.1177/146144480354003
- 32) Hanna, N. (2018). A role for the state in the digital age. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 7(1), 1-16. Retrieved from https://innovationentrepreneurship.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s13731-018-0086-3
- 33) HDM. (2015). *Study on the Harmonisation of the Digital Markets (HDM) in the Eastern Partnership.* Retrieved from: https://hiqstep.eu/sites/default/files/hdm\_study\_final\_report\_v1.0.11.pdf
- 34) HDM. (2015). Study on the Harmonisation of the Digital Markets (HDM) in the Eastern Partnership (EaP), topics: eTrade, eLogistics and Digital Transport Corridors. Retrieved from: https://hiqstep.eu/content/harmonisation-digital-markets-eastern-partnership-etrade-elogistics-digital-transport
- 35) Helsper, E. J. (2017). The Social Relativity of Digital Exclusion: Applying Relative Deprivation Theory to Digital Inequalities. *Communication Theory*, 27(3), 223-242. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/comt.12110
- 36) Huyer, S., Hafkin, N., Ertl, H., & Dryburgh, H. (2005). Women in the Information Society. In Orbicom, From the Digital Divide to Digital Opportunities: Measuring Infostates for Development. Montreal: Claude-Yves Charron. Retrieved from https://orbicom.ca/from-the-digital-divide-to-digitalopportunities/
- 37) Institute for Statistical Research and Professional Development of The Kyrgyz Republic. (2020). Аналитическая Записка: Оценка цифровой трансформации в Кыргызской Республике [Policy Brief: Assessing Digital Transformation in the Kyrgyz Republic]. Retrieved from http://www.stat.kg/media/files/2d3ce15c-2581-42cf-b693-8c9dbe33ecdf.pdf
- 38) ITU. (2017). *ICT Development Index 2017*. Retrieved from http://reports.weforum.org/globalinformation-technology-report-2016/networked-readinessindex/
- 39) ITU. (2018). *Improving technical infrastructure in Afghanistan:* H.E. Shahzad Gul Aryobee. Retrieved from https://news.itu.int/internet-infrastructure-in-afghanistan/
- 40) ITU. (2020). *Connect 2030 An agenda to connect all to a better world*. Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/mediacentre/backgrounders/Pages/connect-2030-agenda.aspx
- 41) ITU. (2020). *ICT Development Index 2020: A proposal*. Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/events/egti2020/IDI2020\_BackgroundDocument\_20200903.pdf
- 42) ITU. (2020). *ITU Economic Experts Roundtable on COVID-19 and the Digital Economy.* Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Regulatory-Market/Pages/Events2020/EconomicRoundTable/home.aspx
- 43) ITU. (2021). *Connectivity in the Least Developed Countries: Status report 2021*. ITU Publications. Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/itu-d/reports/statistics/connectivity-in-the-least-developed-countries-status-report-2021
- 44) Jarrar, Y. (2017). What is the role of government in the digital age? Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/02/role-of-government-digital-age-data/
- 45) Jiang, X., Wang, X., Ren, J., & Xie, Z. (2021). The Nexus between Digital Finance and Economic Development: Evidence from China. *Sustainability*. 13(7289). Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/13/7289
- 46) Karaman Aksentijević, N., Ježić, Z., & Zaninović, P. A. (2021). The Effects of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Use on Human Development—A Macroeconomic Approach. *Economies*, 9(3), 128. Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7099/9/3/128
- 47) Khalid Umar. (2021). Financial Inclusion and Fintech in CAREC: Constraints and Prospects. CAREC Institute. Retrieved from https://www.carecinstitute.org/publications/working-paper-financialinclusion-and-fintech-in-carec-constraints-and-prospects/
- 48) Kutbitdinov, Yu, & Ismailov, B. (2021). *Развитие цифровой экономики в Узбекистане в 2016-2020 гг* [The Development of Digital Economy in Uzbekistan in 2016-2020]. Center for Economic Research and Reform. Retrieved from https://www.cer.uz/ru/post/civil/razvitie-cifrovoj-ekonomikiv-uzbekistane-v-2016-2020-gg
- 49) Lewis, R. J., Villasenor, J. D., & West, D. M. (2017). The 2017 Brookings financial and digital inclusion project report. *Brookings Institution*. Retrieved from https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-2017-brookings-financial-and-digital-inclusion-project-report/
- 50) Mardikyan, S., Yildiz, E. A., Ordu, M. D., & Simsek, B. (2015). Examining the global digital divide: a cross-country analysis. *Communications of the IBIMA*, 2015, 1. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275722098\_Examining\_the\_Global\_Digital\_Divide\_A\_Cr oss-Country\_Analysis
- 51) Mushtaq, M., Badir, Y. F., Song, B., & Kim, M. S. (2021). A Multivariate Statistical Analysis on Digital Divide across Asia and Oceania Countries. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education* (*TURCOMAT*), 12(13), 5816-5833. Retrieved from https://turcomat.org/index.php/turkbilmat/article/view/9850
- 52) Nosova, S. S., Askerov, P. F., Rabadanov, P. F., Dubanevich, L. E., & Voronina, V. N. (2019). The role of digital infrastructure in the digital transformation of the modern Russian economy. *International Journal of Innovative Technology and Exploring Engineering*, 8(7), 2311-2318.
- 53) OECD. (2019). Enhancing Access and Connectivity to Harness Digital Transformation. OECD Going Digital Policy Note, OECD, Paris. Retrieved from www.oecd.org/going-digital/enhancing-access-digital-transformation.pdf
- 54) OECD. (2019). Boosting Private Sector Development and Entrepreneurship in Afghanistan. OECD Publishing, Paris. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/countries/afghanistan/Boosting-Private-Sector-Development-and-Entrepreneurship-Afghanistan-2019-EN.pdf
- 55) OECD. (2019). Sustainable Infrastructure for Low-Carbon Development in Central Asia and the Caucasus: Hotspot Analysis and Needs Assessment, Green Finance and Investment, OECD Publishing, Paris. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/publications/sustainable-infrastructure-for-low-carbon-development-in-central-asia-and-the-caucasus-d1aa6ae9-en.htm
- 56) OECD. (2019). Unpacking E-commerce: Business Models, Trends and Policies, OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/23561431-en.
- 57) Otioma, C., Madureira, A. M., & Martinez, J. (2019). Spatial analysis of urban digital divide in Kigali, Rwanda. *GeoJournal*, 84(3), 719-741. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10708-018-9882-3
- 58) Peña, D., & Yohai, V. J. (2016). Generalized dynamic principal components. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 111(515), 1121-1131. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/282484957\_Generalized\_Dynamic\_Principal\_Componen ts
- 59) Portulans Institute. (2020). Network Readiness Index 2020. Retrieved from https://networkreadinessindex.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/NRI-2020-V8\_28-11-2020.pdf
- 60) Ragnedda, M., and Kreitem, H. (2018). The three levels of digital divide in East EU countries. World of Media. *Journal of Russian Media and Journalism Studies*, 1 (4). pp. 5-26. Retrieved from http://worldofmedia.ru/volumes/2018/The%20three%20levels%20of%20digital%20divide.pdf

- 61) Razzaq, A., Sharif, A., Ahmad, P., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2021). Asymmetric role of tourism development and technology innovation on carbon dioxide emission reduction in the Chinese economy: Fresh insights from QARDL approach. *Sustainable Development*, 29(1), 176-193. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/sd.2139
- 62) Razzaq, A., An, H., & Delpachitra, S. (2021a). Does technology gap increase FDI spillovers on productivity growth? Evidence from Chinese outward FDI in Belt and Road host countries. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 172, 121050. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0040162521004820#:~:text=Productivity% 20spillovers%20from%20Chinese%200FDI%20decrease%20with%20the%20increase%20in%20Tecn ology%20gap.&text=Relatively%20underdeveloped%20countries%20were%20unable%20to%20catc h%20FDI%20spillovers.
- 63) Razzaq A., Fatima T., & Murshed M., (2021b) Asymmetric effects of tourism development and green innovation on economic growth and carbon emissions in top 10 GDP countries, *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, DOI: 10.1080/09640568.2021.1990029
- 64) Robinson, L., Chen, W., Schulz, J., & Khilnani, A. (2018). Digital Inequality across Major Life Realms. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(9), 1159-1166. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0002764218773800
- 65) Sen, A. (2001). Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 66) Siek, M., & Sutanto, A. (2019, August). Impact analysis of fintech on banking industry. In 2019 International Conference on Information Management and Technology (ICIMTech) (Vol. 1, pp. 356-361). IEEE. Retrieved from https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8843778
- 67) Stephenson, M., Eden, L., Kimura, F., Sauvant, K. P., Srinivasan, N., Tajoli, L., & Zhan, J. (2021). Leveraging digital FDI for capacity and competitiveness: How to be Smart. *T20, Task Force, 3*. Retrieved from https://www.g20-insights.org/policy\_briefs/leveraging-digital-fdi-for-capacity-and-competitiveness-how-to-be-smart/
- 68) Stoiciu, A. (2021). The Role of e-Governance in Bridging the Digital Divide. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/chronicle/article/role-e-governance-bridging-digital-divide
- 69) Strusani, D., & Houngbonon, G. V. (2020). What COVID-19 means for digital infrastructure in emerging markets. Retrieved from https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/publications\_ext\_content/ifc\_external\_publication\_site/pu blications\_listing\_page/what+covid+19+means+for+digital+infrastructure+in+emerging+markets
- 70) Trend.az. (2021). Ускоренный рост рынка е-коммерции в Азербайджане приведет к развитию новых трендов минэкономики. [Accelerated growth of e-commerce market in Azerbaijan will lead to the development of new trends Ministry of Economy]. Retrieved from https://www.trend.az/business/economy/3453192.html
- 71) The Economist. (2021). The Inclusive Internet Index. Retrieved from https://theinclusiveinternet.eiu.com/assets/external/downloads/3i-index-data.xlsm
- 72) UN DESA. (2020). E-Government Survey 2020. Digital Government in the Decade of Action for Sustainable Development With addendum on COVID-19 Response. Retrieved from https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/Portals/egovkb/Documents/un/2020-Survey/2020%20UN%20E-Government%20Survey%20(Full%20Report).pdf
- 73) UNCTAD. (2019). *The Digital Economy Report 2019: Value Creation And Capture: Implications For Developing Countries*. Retrieved from https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/der2019\_en.pdf
- 74) UN. (2018). United Nations E-Government Survey 2018: Gearing E-Government to Support Transformation towards Sustainable and Resilient Societies. New York: United Nations.
- 75) UN ESCAP. (2021). *Foreign Direct Investment and the Digital Economy*. Working Paper. Retrieved from https://www.unescap.org/kp/2021/foreign-direct-investment-and-digital-economy

- 76) van Dijk, J. (2006). Digital Divide Research, Achievements and Shortcomings. Poetics, 34, 221-235. DOI: 10.1016/j.poetic.2006.05.004.
- 77) van Dijk, J. (2017). Digital Divide: Impact of Access. The International Encyclopedia of Media Effects, 1-11. DOI: 10.1002/9781118783764.wbieme0043.
- 78) van Dijk, J. (2018). Afterword: The State of Digital Divide Theory. In M. Ragnedda, & G. W. Muschert, Theorizing Digital Divides (pp. 199-206). New York, London: Routledge.
- 79) Várallyai, L., Herdon, M., & Botos, S. (2015). Statistical Analyses of Digital Divide Factors. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 19, 364-372. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212567115000374
- 80) Zhang, X. (2013). Income Disparity and Digital Divide: The Internet Consumption Model and Cross-Country Empirical Research. *Telecommunications Policy*, 37(6-7), 515–529. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596113000025
- 81) Vimalkumar, M., Singh, J. B., & Sharma, S. K. (2020). Exploring the multi-level digital divide in mobile phone adoption: A comparison of developing nations. Information Systems Frontiers, 1-20.
- 82) World Bank. (2016). *World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends*. World Bank Publications. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2016
- 83) World Bank. (2020). *COVID-19 Prompts Urgency of Bridging Digital Divide in Central Asia*. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/12/02/urgency-of-bridging-digital-divide-in-central-asia-increases-as-a-result-of-the-covid-19-pandemic
- 84) World Bank. (2020). Digital Economy for Africa Country Diagnostic Tool and Guidelines for Task Teams. Version 2.0. Retrieved from https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/694441594319396632-0090022020/original/DE4ADiagnosticToolV2FINALJUNE24.pdf
- 85) World Bank. (2020). Tajikistan: Poverty & Equity Brief. Retrieved from https://databank.worldbank.org/data/download/poverty/987B9C90-CB9F-4D93-AE8C-750588BF00QA/SM2020/Global\_POVEQ\_TJK.pdf
- 86) World Bank. (2020). World Development Indicators: Urban population (% of total population) -Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?locations=KG-TJ-TM-UZ-KZ
- 87) World Bank, (n.a.). Digital Government for Development. Brief. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/digitaldevelopment/brief/digital-government-fordevelopment
- 88) Yoon, S. (2019). Azerbaijan: Country Digital Development Overview. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/484586/aze-digital-developmentoverview.pdf

# Appendices Appendix 1: Results of Principal Component Analysis for all indices and subindices Table A1: PCA for Dimension 1

Principal compo	nents/correlation									
Corr	nponent	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative					
C	omp1	1.94053	1.17804	0.6468	0.6468					
C	omp2	0.762494	0.465519	0.2542	0.9010					
C	omp3	0.296974		0.0990	1.0000					
	Number	of obs			40					
	Number o	of comp.			3					
	Tra	се			3					
	Rh	0		1	.0000					
	P	rincipal compone	ents (eigenvecto	rs)						
Variable	Comp1	Comp2	Comp3	Unexplained						
a1	0.5624	-0.6273	0.5387	0						
a2	0.6532	-0.0625	-0.7546	0						
a3	0.5070	0.7763	0.3746	0						
	Factor analysis/correlation									
Corr	nponent	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative					
Fa	actor1	1.37294	1.28109	1.1320	1.1320					
Fa	actor2	0.09185	0.34383	0.0757	1.2078					
Fa	actor3	-0.25198		-0.2078	1.0000					
	Number	of obs			40					
	Retained	factors			1					
	Number of	f params		3						
LR test: indep	endent vs. saturat	ed chi2(3)	1.0000	Prob>chi2	0.0000					
	Fa	actor loadings an	d unique varian	ces						
Vari	able	Fac	tor1	Uni	queness					
а	1	0.6	511	0	.5761					
а	2	0.8	144	0	.3367					
a	3	0.5	345	0	.7143					
	Kaiser-M	leyer-Olkin meas	ure of sampling	adequacy						
	Variable		Кто							
	a1			0.5436						
	a2			0.5245						
	a3			0.5656						
	Overall			0.5394						
		Scoring co	oefficients							
	Variable		Factor1							
	a1		0.5436							
	a2		0.55876							
	a3		0.18011							

Variable		Obs	Mean	Sto	d. Dev.	Mi	n	Max
f1 40		40	3.73e-10	.84	488845	-1.024533		1.711165
		Correl	ation matrix of	indica	tors			
	C	ost	a1		a2			a3
Cost	1.0	0000						
a1	0.7	7670	1.0000					
a2	0.9	9594	0.6220		1.000	0		
a3	0.6297		0.2420		0.5217			1.0000



Figure A1: Screen Plot PCA

Principal components/correlation														
Com	ponent		Ei	genvalue	D	iffe	erence	9	Proport	ion		Cumulative	e	
Co	omp1		с,	5.24819	4	4.1	0744		0.656	0		0.6560		
Co	omp2			1.14076		27	6992		0.142	6		0.7986		
Co	omp3		•	863765		49	7709		0.108	0		0.9066		
Co	omp4		•	366057		15	4553		0.0458			0.9523		
Co	omp5		•	211504		.120765			0.026	4		0.9788		
Co	omp6			.0907393		043	31761		0.011	3		0.9901		
Co	omp7			.0475633		016	51441		0.005	9		0.9961		
Co	omp8			0314191					0.003	9		1.0000		
Numb	per of obs			40										
Numbe	er of comp.			3										
Т	race			3										
	Rho			1.0000										
				Principal	ompon	ent	ts (eig	env	ectors)					
Variable	Comp1	Со	mp2	Comp3	Comp	4	Com	ıp5	Comp6	Со	mp7	Comp8	Une	xplained
a4	0.3988	0.0	)752	-0.0858	-0.176	5	0.77	/18	-0.3572	-0.2	2690	-0.0340		0
a5	0.4121	-0.	0724	-0.0305	-0.150	0	-0.46	634	-0.6911	0.3	8034	-0.1307		0
a6	0.3124	-0.	0729	-0.5635	0.751	3	0.01	10	0.0857	0.0	)559	-0.0677		0
a7	0.4219	-0.	0475	0.0570	-0.057	2	-0.37	746	0.1363	-0.0	5797	0.4386		0
a8	0.3792	-0.	3638	0.2566	-0.030	9	0.19	98	0.2729	0.5	6476	0.4928		0
a9	0.4145	-0.	1717	0.0938	-0.233	5	-0.06	632	0.4745	-0.0	0320	-0.7108		0
a10	0.1975	0.7	7395	-0.3749	-0.325	1	-0.07	712	0.2599	0.2	627	0.1619		0
a11	0.2024	0.5	5223	0.6751	0.466	3	0.01	12	-0.0419	0.0	)257	-0.1024		0
				Factor a	nalysis/	co	rrelati	ion						
F	actor		Eige	envalue	Differ	en	ce	I	Proportion		Cur	nulative		
Fa	actor1		5.2	10000	4.21	80	6	0.8		0.8142		0.8142		
Fa	actor2		0.8	38195	0.50	10	5		0.1408		0	.9550		
Fa	actor3		0.3	38089	0.29	74(	0		0.0608		1	.0158		
Fa	actor4		0.0	08349	0.06	67	1		0.0133		1	.0291		
Fa	actor5		0.0	01678	0.03	81	5		0.0027		1	.0318		
Fa	actor6		-0.	02138	0.04	873	3		-0.0034		1	.0284		
Fa	actor7		-0.	07011	0.03	769	9		-0.0112		1	.0172		
Fa	actor8		-0.	10779					-0.0172		1	.0000		
LR test: in	dependent	VS.	17	71.87	Prob>	>ch	i2			0.00	00			
saturate	ed: chi2(28	)											-	
Numb	per of obs			21										
Retain	ed factors			1									-	
Numbe	r of param	S		8										
			Fac	tor loadir	igs and ι	uni	que va	aria	nces					
Va	Variable Factor1			Uniqueness										
	a4 0.8961			0.1969										
	a5			0.9378	3	0.1206								
	a6			0.6641			0.5590							

## Table A2: PCA for Dimension 2

	a7		0.9696				0.0	599		
	a8		0.8733				0.2	373		
	a9		0.9554				0.0	872		
	a10		0.4318	5			0.8	136		
	a11		0.4177	,			0.8	255		
		Kaiser-Me	eyer-Olkin	measure o	f sampling	adequa	асу			
	Variable	e		kn	no					
	a4			0.8	572					
	a5			0.9	184					
	a6			0.8	591					
	a7			0.8	391					
	a8			0.7	265					
	a9			0.8	227					
	a10			0.4	491					
	a11			0.6	007					
	Overal			0.7	934					
		Scorin	g coefficie	nts						
	Variable	5		Fac	tor1					
	a4			0.15	556					
	a5			0.10	)369					
	a6			0.01	.232					
	a7			0.39	9437					
	a8			0.20	)824					
	a9			0.13	3447					
	a10			0.11	.832					
	a11			-0.0	1457				T	
Variat	ole	Obs	Ν	/lean	Std. D	ev.	Min		N	lax
f1		21	-1.	42e-09	.9912	26		-1.773212	1.03	5002
	1	-	Corr	elation ma	trix of ind	icators				
	access	a4	a5	a6	a/	a8		a9	a10	a11
Access	1.0000									
a4	0.9041	1.0000	4 0000							
a5	0.9461	0.8113	1.0000	1 0000						
a6	0.6700	0.6392	0.6498	1.0000	4 0000					
a/	0.9782	0.8211	0.9345	0.6495	1.0000	1 000				
88 80	0.8810	0.7617	0.8143	0.5215	0.8492	1.000	U	1 0000		
a9	0.9639	0.8364	0.8999	0.5889	0.9386	0.916	ъ Б	1.0000	1 0000	
a10	0.4356	0.5021	0.3876	0.3576	0.3882	0.019	5	0.2903	1.0000	4 0000
a11	0.4214	0.3913	0.3535	0.0880	0.4396	0.328	9	0.3531	0.3750	1.0000



Figure A2: Screen Plot PCA

## Table A3: PCA for Dimension 3

Principal components/correlation									
Compone	nt	Eiger	nvalue	Diffe	erence	Prop	ortion	Cum	ulative
Comp1		1.9	978	1.0	)924	0.6	659	0.6	5659
Comp2		0.90	)5401	0.80	)8598	0.3	8018	0.9	9677
Comp3		0 09	68028			0.0323		1.0	0000
Number of	obs	-	17						
Number of co	omp.		3						
Trace			3						
Rho		1.0	0000						
Variable	Com	np1	Com	np2	Com	np3	Unexplai	ined	
a12	0.67	'09	-0.24	422	0.70	800	0		
a13	0.67	'95	-0.17	776	-0.72	119	0		
a14	0.29	69	0.95	538	0.04	54	0		
		Prir	ncipal con	nponent	s/correlat	tion			
Compone	nt	Eiger	nvalue	Diffe	erence	Prop	ortion	Cum	ulative
Comp1	Comp1 1.9		978	1.0	)924	0.6	659	0.6	5659
Comp2		0.90	)5401	0.80	08598	0.3	8018	0.9	9677
Comp3		0.09	68028			0.0	)323	1.0	0000
Number of	obs	-	17						
Number of co	omp.	3							
Trace	Trace 3		3						
Rho	Rho 1.0000		0000						
LR test: indepen	test: independent vs. 1.0000		0000			Prob	o>chi2	0.0	0000
saturated: ch	ni2(3)								
		Facto	or loading	s and un	ique vari	ances			
Variable			Factor1		Ur	niquenes	SS		
a12			0.9219			0.1501			
a13			0.9312			0.1329			
a14			0.2379			0.9434			
Kais	er-Meyer	-Olkin n	neasure o	f sampli	ing adequ	acy			
Vari	able			kn	no				
a1	12			0.5	114				
a1	13			0.5	108				
al	14			0.7	348				
Ove	erall			0.5	195				
	Sc	coring co	pefficients	5					
Vari	able			Fact	tor1				
a1	12			0.44	1385				
al	13			0.52	2535				
a1	14			0.02	2330				T
Variable	Variable Obs Mea			an Std. Dev.			Min Ma		Max
f1	17	7	0		.9507	'524	96140	98	1.979968
			Correlat	tion mat	rix of ind	icators			
		quality		a	12		a13		a14



Figure A3: Screen Plot PCA

## Table A4: PCA for Dimension 5

	Principal components/correlation									
Component		Eigenv	alue	Diff	erence	Pi	roportior	า	Cumulative	
Comp1		1.944	83	1.8	8966		0.9724		0.9724	
Comp2		.0551	724				0.0276		1.0000	
Number of ob	)S	21								
Number of cor	np	2								
Trace		2								
		Р	rincipa	l compone	ents (eigen	vectors	5)			
Variable			Comp	1	(	Comp2		U	nexplained	
a16			0.7071	L	(	0.7071			0	
a17			0.7071	L	-(	0.7071			0	
			fac	tor analysi	is/correlat	ion				
Factor		Eigenvalu	le	Differ	rence	Pr	oportion		Cumulative	
Factor1		1.83753	3	1.88	966		1.0292		1.0292	
Factor2		-0.05213	3			-	0.0292		1.0000	
Number of obs		21								
Number of com	р	1								
Trace		1								
LR test:		43.53 Prob			>chi2			0.0000		
independent vs										
saturated: chi2(	1)									
		Fa	actor lo	adings an	d unique v	ariance	es			
Varia	able			Fact	tor1			Uniqu	ieness	
a1	6			0.9	585			0.0	812	
a1	7			0.9	0.9585 0.0812					
		Kaiser-N	leyer-C	lkin meas	ure of sam	pling a	dequacy			
	Var	iable					Kn	no		
	а	16					0.5	000		
	а	17					0.5	000		
	Ov	erall					0.5	000		
				Scoring co	pefficients					
	Var	iable					Fact	tor1		
	a	16					0.49	286		
a17							0.49	286	I	
variable obs mean			nean	Std.d	ev	m	in	max		
F1 21			4.0	8e-09	.97202	224	-1.27	9499	1.714227	
Correlation matrix of i					rix of indi	cators		[		
			enviro	ť		a16			a17	
environme	nt		1.0000	)						
a16			0.9861	<u>L</u>	1	1.0000				
a17 0			0.9861	L	0.9448			1.0000		



Figure A4: Screen Plot PCA

 Table A5: PCA for Composite Digital Divide Index

		Prii	ncipal co	mpon	ents/co	rrelatio	on			
Compon	ent	Eigenva	lue		Differen	ce		Proportion	Cum	ulative
Comp	1	3.399	73		1.50385	5		0.4857	0.4	4857
Comp2	2	1.895	38		.646083		0.2708		0.	7565
Comp	3	1.249	79	.901237		7	0.1785		0.	9351
Comp4	4	.348557			.271854	1		0.0498	0.	9849
Comp	5	.07670	25		.049513	4		0.0110	0.	9958
Compe	5	.02718	91		.025038	3		0.0039	0.	9997
Comp	7	.00215	103					0.0003	1.	0000
Number of	f obs	11								
Number of	comp	7								
Trace		7								
Rho		1.000	C							
		Princ	ipal com	pone	nts (eige	envect	ors)		I	
Variable	Comp1	Comp2	Com	р3	Com p4	Com	ıp5	Comp6	Comp7	Unexplai d
Cost	-0.3938	-0.3463	0.390	07	0.35	0.01	.64	0.6574	0.1299	0
					09					
Access	0.4321	0.1859	-0.46	05	0.18	0.47	/43	0.4607	0.3111	0
					06					
Quality	0.4394	-0.2037	0.219	98	0.75	0.02	206	-0.3604	-0.1017	0
anviranment	0.4920	0 2220	0.220	01	93	0.40	252	0.0795	0 5 9 7 7	0
environment	0.4650	-0.2256	0.250	01	- 0.27	-0.40	552	0.0785	0.5677	0
					70					
digitalsec~y	0.4282	-0.2715	0.365	55	-	0.36	646	0.2068	-0.5172	0
					0.40					
					75					
ictexports	0.2078	0.6466	0.159	90	0.14	-0.47	735	0.3733	-0.3572	0
	0.0726	0.5420	0.647	25	93	0.42		0.4024	0.001	
digitairdi	-0.0726	0.5120	0.61	25	-	0.42	264	-0.1934	0.3681	0
			Factor	r anal	vsis/cor	relatio	n			
Factor	Ei	genvalue	D	Differe	nce	F	Propo	ortion	Cumulativ	ve
Factor1	3	3.36976		1.493	83		0.4	949	0.4949	
Factor2	1	L.87593		0.647	50		0.2	755	0.7703	
Factor3	1	L.22843		0.938	38		0.1	804	0.9507	
Factor4	(	).29005		0.225	67		0.0	426	0.9933	
Factor5	(	0.06438		0.067	96		0.0	095	1.0028	
Factor6	-(	0.00359		0.011	85	-0.0005		1.0023		
Factor7	-(	0.01543					-0.0	023	1.0000	
Number of ob	s	11								

Retained facto	ors		03										
No of param	s		18										
LR test:		5	88.38		Pro	b>chi	2			0.000	00		
independent v	/S.												
saturated:													
chi2(1)													
		Facto	or loadin	igs (pa	ttern m	atrix)	and u	unique varia	ance	S			
Variable	F	acto	r1		Factor2		F	actor3	Uı	niquen	less		
Cost	-(	0.721	L1		-0.4646		C	.4293		0.079	9		
Access	0	).796	0		0.2511		-(	).5155		0.037	6		
quality	0	).791	.8		-0.2663		C	.2299		0.249	2		
environment	0	).893	2		-0.3082		C	.2630		0.038	1		
digitalsec~y	0	).791	.6		-0.3728		C	.4158		0.061	4		
ictexports	(	).383	3		0.8893		C	.1667		0.034	4		
digitalfdi	-(	0.133	36		0.7080		C	.6750		0.025	2		
	Kais	er-M	eyer-Oll	kin me	easure o	f sam	pling	adequacy					
V	ariable					kmo							
	cost			0.3			8						
6	access					0.284	8						
c	quality					0.369	1						
env	ironmen	t		0.3207									
digi	italsec~y	'			0.2921								
ict	exports					0.229	6						
di	gitalfdi					0.1308							
0	Overall					0.287	3						
		Sc	oring co	efficie	ents								
Variable	9		Fac	tor1		Factor2		actor2	Factor3		r3		
Cost			0.13	8400	-0.2		.26192		0.35742		12		
Access			0.7	8898		0.06998		06998	-0.3529		94		
Quality			-0.0	5792			-0	.09295			0.1288	35	
Environme	ent		1.0	6024			-0	.30068			0.3419	94	
digitalsec	~y		-0.3	4304			-0	.09419			0.2444	16	
Ictexport	ts 		-0.2	0449 0.55004		55004			0.0564	18			
Digitaito	11	Oha	0.3	5577		0.	29534		N 41:00	0.6189	98	Max	
Variable		005		Mean			St	d. Dev.			40		
T1		11		Corre	5.93e-09	ootriv	of in	dicators		1.6837	48	L	2551
	compo	c~v	cost					onviro~t	dia	ita~v	ictov	n~c	digita~i
	1 000	5 X 10	COSL		alless	qua	iiity		uig	ila y		Ч 2	
Cost		<u>ان</u> 15	1 000	0									
	0.72	54	-0.804		1 0000								
quality	0.790	, אריי	-0.260	8 0	1 4912	1 0	000				<u> </u>		
environment	0.893	36	-0 420	$\frac{1}{2}$	).4646	0.7	962	1.0000					
digitalsec~v	0.792	20	-0.262	4 (	).3129	0.7	358	0.9491	1.0	0000			

ictexports	0.3835	-0.6008	0.4382	0.1396	0.1161	0.0103	1.0000	
digitalfdi	-0.1337	0.0509	-0.2687	-0.1492	-0.1711	-0.0717	0.6776	1.0000



Figure A5: Screen Plot PCA

Cost & Affordability and Access & Infrastructure									
Country	Mean	Min	Max						
Azerbaijan	0.867	0.835	0.894						
Georgia	0.684	0.499	0.865						
Kazakhstan	1.094	0.982	1.215						
Kyrgyzstan	-0.828	-1.225	-0.494						
Mongolia	0.198	-0.070	0.506						
Pakistan	-0.910	-1.095	-0.727						
Tajikistan	-1.150	-1.400	-0.792						
Uzbekistan	0.045	-0.712	0.429						
Total	0.000	-1.400	1.215						
Cost & Affordability,	Access & Infrastructure an	d Quality							
Country	Mean	Min	Max						
Azerbaijan	0.856	0.828	0.894						
Georgia	0.805	0.617	1.002						
Kazakhstan	1.143	1.024	1.311						
Kyrgyzstan	-0.731	-1.174	-0.352						
Mongolia	0.063	-0.252	0.436						
Pakistan	-0.985	-1.201	-0.780						
Tajikistan	-1.128	-1.349	-0.799						
Uzbekistan	-0.023	-0.755	0.387						
Total	0.000	-1.349	1.311						
Cost & Affordability, Access	& Infrastructure, Quality	and Regulations							
Country	Mean	Min	Max						
Azerbaijan	0.443	0.387	0.537						
Georgia	1.322	1.111	1.524						
Kazakhstan	1.049	0.856	1.279						
Kyrgyzstan	-0.535	-0.965	-0.146						
Mongolia	0.255	-0.037	0.553						
Pakistan	-0.957	-1.246	-0.625						

### Appendix 2: Simple to General Case: PCA Results for Different Combinations Table 2A: Summary Tables obtained from PCA for different combinations—simple to general

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Tajikistan		-1.185	-1.462	-0.848		
Uzbekistan		-0.390	-1.053	0.057		
Total		0.000	-1.462	1.524		
Cost & Affordabilit	y, Access & Infrastr	ucture, Quality, Regula	tions and Digital Security			
Country		Mean	Min Max			
Azerbaijan		0.490	0.222	0.742		
Georgia		1.438	1.182	1.638		
Kazakhstan		1.048	0.480	1.531		
Kyrgyzstan		-0.561	-1.040	-0.011		
Mongolia		-0.025	-0.395	0.237		
Pakistan		-0.770	-1.095	-0.274		
Tajikistan		-1.148	-1.399	-0.839		
Uzbekistan		-0.471	-1.183	0.055		
Total		0.000	-1.399 1.638			
Cost & Affordability, Acco	ess & Infrastructure	e, Quality, Regulations,	Digital Security and ICT Ou	tput		
Country	Mean	Min	Ma	ax		
Azerbaijan	0.480	0.238	0.7	18		
Georgia	1.364	1.125	1.5	54		
Kazakhstan	1.152	0.659	1.631			
Kyrgyzstan	-0.530	-0.950	-0.046			
Mongolia	0.032	-0.327	0.3	99		
Pakistan	-0.841	-1.153	-0.3	577		
Tajikistan	-1.177	-1.418	-0.8	82		
Uzbekistan	-0.479	-1.164	0.0	09		
Total	0.000	-1.418	1.6	31		
Cost & Affordability, Access &	nfrastructure, Qua	lity, Regulations, Digita	I Security, ICT Output and I	Digital FDI		
Country	Mean	Min	Ma	ах		
Azerbaijan	0.395	0.231	0.5	76		
Georgia	1.193	0.951	1.3	99		
Kazakhstan	1.433	1.021	1.8	73		
Kyrgyzstan	-0.572	-0.992	-0.112			
Mongolia	0.119	-0.206	0.585			
Pakistan	-0.853	-1.151	-0.4	06		

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Tajikistan	-1.238	-1.507	-0.904
Uzbekistan	-0.477	-1.211	-0.027
Total	0.000	-1.507	1.873

## Table 2B: Correlation Matrix for Different Combinations—Simple to General

		C	ost & Affordat	oility and	d Acce	ess & Infrast	ructur	e				
		cind	lex_1		Cost &	Afford	lability	Ac	cess &	Infrastructure		
cindex_1		1.0	000									
Cost & Affor	dability		0.9	0.933			1.000					
Access & Infra	structure		0.9	933			0.739				1.000	
		Cost 8	& Affordability	, Access	& Inf	rastructure	and Q	uality	÷			
			cindex_2		Cost	& Affordab	ility	Access	& Infrastruc	ture	Quality	
cindex_2			1.000									
Cost & Affordabil	ity		0.898			1.000						
Access & Infrastruc	ture		0.957			0.739			1.000			
Quality			0.290			0.092		0.296		0.296		1.000
	C	ost & Affoi	dability, Acces	ss & Infra	astruc	cture, Qualit	ty and	Regulatio	ons			
		cindex_3	Cost & Affor	dability	Ac	cess & Infra	structi	ure	Quality		Regulations	
cindex_3		1.000										
Cost & Affordability		0.837	1.000	)								
Access & Infrastructure	e	0.888	0.739	)		1.000	)					
Quality		0.492	0.092	<u>)</u>		0.296	5		1.000			
Regulations		0.808	0.510	)		0.531	531 0.53		0.538		1.000	
	Cost & Af	fordability,	, Access & Infra	astructu	re, Qı	uality, Regul	ations	and Digi	tal Security			
cindex 4 Cost & Affordability Access & Quality Regulations Digital Securi					Digital Security							
cindex_4	1.000											
Cost & Affordability	0.799		1.000									
Access & Infrastructure	0.864		0.739		1.00	00						
Quality	0.583		0.092		0.29	96	1.0	000				

CAREC Institute. Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap. March 2022.

Regulations		0.768	0.510	1	0.531			0.538	3	1.000			
Digital Security		0.763	0.492	0.492		0.563 0.520		0.421	0.421 1.000		000		
	Cost 8	& Affordat	oility, Access & Ir	nfrastru	icture, Quality, Re	egulatio	ons, [	Digital S	Securit	y and ICT	<sup>.</sup> Outpu	t	
	с	cindex_5	Cost & Afforda	bility	Access & Infrastructu	re	Qu	ality	Regu	lations	Di Seo	gital curity	ICT Output
cindex_5		1.000											
Cost & Affordability	/	0.808	1.000										
Access & Infrastructu	ire	0.881	0.739		1.000								
Quality		0.561	0.092		0.296		1.	.000					
Regulations		0.770	0.510		0.531		0.	538	1.	000			
Digital Security		0.732	0.492		0.563		0.	520	0.	421	1.	.000	
ICT Output		0.403	0.339		0.393		0.	.119	0.	320	0.	.035	1.000
Cost &	& Affo	ordability,	Access & Infrast	ructure	, Quality, Regulat	ions, Di	igital	Securi	ty, ICT	Output a	nd Digi	ital FDI	
	cinde	ex_	Cost &		Access &	Quali	i+.,	Regu	lation	Digi	tal	ICT	Digital
	6	j 4	Affordability	In	frastructure	Quali	ity	:	s	Secu	rity	Output	FDI
cindex_6	1.00	00											
Cost & Affordability	0.83	35	1.000										
Access &													
Infrastructure	0.88	81	0.739		1.000								
Quality	0.52	26	0.092		0.296	1.00	0						
Regulations	0.74	45	0.510		0.531	0.53	8	1.0	000				
Digital Security	0.66	68	0.492		0.563	0.52	0	0.4	121	1.0	00		
ICT Output	0.50	01	0.339		0.393	0.11	9	0.3	320	0.0	35	1.000	
Digital FDI	0.19	96	0.291		-0.096	0.02	2	-0.	015	-0.0	42	0.542	1.000

### Appendix 3: E-commerce virtual warehouse: implementation in the selected CAREC countries

#### Introduction

The EU, currently the second biggest cross border buyer of goods, has established its own e-commerce rules, processes, knowhow, and ways of engaging stakeholders. Naturally, the member states expect these rules to be considered and followed by all their trading partners, including non-EU businesses. Otherwise, different rules create various obstacles and barriers that complicate e-commerce transactions. There is a need to harmonize the digital environments between the Eastern partner countries and the EU to avoid such complications. Thus, the EU4Digital Facility focused on:

- 1. Facilitating harmonization of cross border e-commerce laws, standards, and ecosystem among the Eastern partner countries (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, the Republic of Moldova, and Ukraine) and the EU;
- 2. Piloting technical solutions to support cross border e-commerce.

Regarding harmonization of cross border e-commerce laws, standards and ecosystem, the EU4Digital Facility has published recommendations to:

- eliminate the barriers for cross border e-commerce;
- boost cross border e-commerce volume;
- increase awareness and prepare the countries for the EU 2021 e-commerce changes.

Regarding piloting technical solutions to support cross border e-commerce, the EU4Digital Facility has launched the pilot, establishing national virtual warehouses in the pilot countries, including Azerbaijan, to support retailers, marketplaces, delivery operators, and customs to place the products for sale abroad and facilitate cross border delivery.

#### 1. About the piloted e-commerce virtual warehouse

How and why the pilot solution was developed: the cross border challenges in e-commerce prompted EU4Digital to look for a possible solution that would strengthen the e-commerce ecosystem and increase e-commerce volumes. After analyzing e-commerce legal, standards, and ecosystem areas, one of the developed recommendations was selected to become the pilot solution to address the challenges. What is the pilot? virtual e-commerce warehouse is developed and piloted to facilitate the automated exchange of e-commerce data. The piloted solution supports retailers, marketplaces, delivery operators, and customs to place goods for sale abroad and facilitate cross border delivery.

The national virtual warehouse enables sellers to place goods abroad and exchange data electronically about sold goods with logistics and transport providers so that they can complete the physical delivery of purchased products to buyers. A virtual warehouse was configured and tested for the pilot to connect with Azerpost to support the physical delivery of purchased products. Azerpost has been selected as a delivery operator because it uses a unified postal system provided by the Universal Postal Union for data exchange.

During the e-commerce pilot activities in the scope of the EU4Digital Facility, the virtual warehouse technical solution was deployed and configured in three Eastern Partnership countries, including Azerbaijan. Pilot participants had an opportunity to observe how the virtual warehouse works in practice

by exchanging real time e-commerce electronic data with a marketplace and the national postal operators. Data exchange was tested between pilot countries, including Azerbaijan, where the eBay marketplace was selected for the pilot.

In addition to the pilot between the Eastern Partnership countries and Germany, the EU4Digital also launched a pilot between Azerbaijan and Georgia. The aim was to explore the potential benefits of the virtual e-commerce warehouse between the Eastern partner countries.

What are the benefits of the pilot? The developed and tested solution aims to support e-commerce actors as follows:

- For retailers: cost and time efficiency. The retailers manage the inventory in real time on a single virtual warehouse, which is integrated with marketplaces allowing to place products for sales from one place on different marketplaces simultaneously.
- Marketplaces: growth possibilities. By allowing new businesses to list goods on the interfaces, the virtual warehouse allows marketplaces to grow a portfolio of products.
- Postal operators: timely delivery and quality. Once the sale happens, marketplaces notify the virtual warehouse through the application programming interface (API) so that the national post can initiate cross border transportation procedures immediately. All data required for postal operations is collected in the virtual warehouse before sales and shared with the postal operators as soon as sales happen.

An additional—and very important—goal of the pilot activity was to prepare e-commerce actors in the Eastern partner countries for the 2021 e-commerce VAT package introduced in the EU:

- Mandatory electronic customs declaration;
- Available reduced customs data set to all parcel operators from July 2021;
- Harmonized ID linking all assigned IDs on a parcel to items stored inside.

At the pilot conclusion phase, the developed and tested application and relevant configurations were handed over to Azerbaijan to customize further and use them.

The continuation of the pilot outcomes is expected to result in more efficient data exchange and commercial goods delivery between Azerbaijan, the EU, and beyond and reduce business transaction costs and improve efficiency and business relations.

#### 2. How the pilot was launched in Azerbaijan

During the pilot, sellers from the Eastern partner countries accomplished the following:

- 1. **Product placing in the virtual warehouse**. Sellers use the newly established national virtual warehouse to add products for online sale in Germany. Sellers create a centralized product listing to describe products both to list on the marketplace and customs purposes.
- 2. **Product listing on the German marketplace.** Next, the harmonized product listing on the virtual warehouse is sent to German eBay to place products for sale on the marketplace.
- 3. **Product purchase.** Once a purchase happens on eBay, the piloted virtual warehouse automatically generates mandatory and necessary data for customs, import duties, transport security, and product safety documentation in real time.
- 4. Exchange of product data and final delivery. Generated data is shared by the piloted solution with the logistics and transport provider so that they can complete the physical delivery of

purchased products to buyers. This way, sellers enter product data only once in the virtual warehouse, and the virtual warehouse shares this data to complete the transaction.

During the pilot launch, Azerbaijani seller 'ISAR' LLC sold a handmade wooden desk organizer, which was delivered in five working days to the buyer in Germany. Throughout the entire delivery period, the buyer in Germany could track the purchased item online.

Both the intra-EaP as well as the EaP-EU pilots have now been concluded successfully. They have proven that automated e-commerce data exchange via virtual warehouse is technically feasible and highly desirable for both public and private entities across the Eastern partnership region.

As this project was successfully tested in two CAREC countries—Azerbaijan and Georgia—it is possible to propose its implementation in other countries of the region to increase e-commerce between the CAREC and EU countries.

### Appendix 4: Questionnaire (Shorter Version)

## Questionnaire on Digital Divide Gap (For CI)

## CAREC Institute Research on Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap (Phase 1)

Country (please provide name of survey country): \_\_\_\_\_

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
1. D	gital Infrastructure			
		1.1 Digital Public Services		
	Are there any specific national strategies for	Yes (please provide details):		
1.	digital infrastructure development?	No (please explain why not):		
	Is there any national legal framework to	Yes (please provide details):		
2.	support digital infrastructure development?	No (please explain why not):		
3.	Country coverage with 4G networks.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c)60% and above</li> </ul>		
4.	E-government users (individuals sending filled forms to public authorities, over the internet, last 12 months, percentage of internet users).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
5.	Are there any e-health methods available in your country? List down all.	a) b) c)		
6.	Please describe what are the existing micro small and medium enterprise (MSMEs) innovation and digitalization hubs (techno parks, SEZs), their activities.	a) b) c) d)		
		1.2. Integration of Digital Technology		
7.	Percentage of enterprises sending and/or receiving e-invoices.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>c) Up to 10%</li> <li>d) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>e) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
8.	Please identify the main players in your country's digitalization drive (telecom companies, government agencies, etc.) and their development strategies and plans.	a) b) c)		
		1.3 Access to Digital Financial Services	•	
9.	Name few fintech industries providing services (such as, to improve credit scoring, anti money laundering/combating the financing of terrorism (AML/CFT), fraud detection)	a) b) c) d)		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
10.	How much funding is available for startups or early stage small businesses?	<ul> <li>a) No funding (specify reasons:</li> <li>a</li> <li>b</li> <li>b. Funding is available (please specify amount in US dollars)</li> </ul>		
11.	What is the status of micro financing or lease for individuals? Choose one option	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please specify the duration in years)</li> <li>b) Not available (please specify any hurdles) <ul> <li>a</li> <li>b</li> <li>b</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
2. D	igital payments			
1.	Any programs for increasing the volume of cashless payments in your country	a) b) c)		
2.	Which of the payment methods are the accepted ways to sell and pay for goods on the major marketplaces in your country? Please list all.	a) b) c)		
3.	Amount of DFDI (in million USD) in the last five years in digital infrastructure (including digital payments).			

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
4.	Are there any digital financial services that provide privilege or subsidies in developing digital payments?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not):		
5.	List recent major projects introduced or underway in the mentioned sector (by government and private sector).	a) b) c) d)		
6.	Are there any specific programs or policies aimed at digital economy/digital payment development? Add details of all.	a) b) c) d)		
3. E-	commerce			
1.	Percentage of enterprises receiving orders for products via websites or apps, by type of web platform (own website or intermediary platforms)	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
2.	Can SMEs as companies directly register on global marketplaces (such as Amazon, Alibaba, eBay, WISH etc., available in your country) to sell cross border?	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please provide name of all those that are available.</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide reasons of unavailability) <ul> <li>a.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>c.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
3.	List the key marketplaces in your country and indicate if they allow to buy and sell cross border.	a) b) c)		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		d)		
4.	Origin of sellers (national, EU, China, rest of world) of goods, services or content bought or ordered for private use over the internet.	<ul> <li>a) National</li> <li>b) China</li> <li>c) United States</li> <li>d) United Kingdom</li> <li>e) Others (please specify)</li> </ul>		
5.	Are there any single window platforms (supporting online sales) available in your country?	If yes, please specify		
6.	Is there any association or similar organization in your country that supports the activities in e-commerce	If yes, please specify the activity of the organization		
7.	Availability of 'green transport corridor' approach in any part of the transport sector. Pick one option and explain.	<ul> <li>a) Yes available</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide some reasons of non-availability)</li> </ul>		
8.	Legal framework for cross border electronic data exchange between customs	<ul> <li>a) Yes available</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide some reasons of non-availability)</li> </ul>		
9.	What are the most common delivery methods of cross border parcels in your country?	<ul> <li>a) DHL</li> <li>b) DPD</li> <li>c) UPS</li> <li>d) FedEx</li> <li>e) Others (please specify)</li> </ul>		
10.	What is the share (in percentage) of major marketplaces using any international parcel	<ul> <li>a) DHL (in percentage)</li> <li>b) DPD (in percentage)</li> <li>c) UPS (in percentage)</li> <li>d) FedEx (in percentage)</li> </ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
	delivery services such as DHL, DPD, UPS and FedEx in your country?	e) Others (please specify) (in percentage)		
11.	Please describe what are the common delivery locations for parcel delivery in your country. You may add several options.	a) b) c) d) e)		
12.	How delivery to remote areas happens in your country. Specify sources.	a) b) c) d) e)		
13.	How the process for buyers to return purchased goods online is processed in your country?			
14.	<ul> <li>Please describe the following areas and involved stakeholders (domestic and global):</li> <li>a) Number of days to decide whether to keep purchased goods and when does this period start.</li> <li>b) Reasons and other information provided to seller.</li> <li>c) Key stakeholders that manage the process of backwards delivery back to seller (such as, delivery operators, specialized software).</li> </ul>	a) one week b) two weeks c) one month d) others (please specify)		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
	<ul> <li>d) Most common locations for customers to drop purchased goods to be delivered back to seller. a) home, b) office, c) nearest outlet/sale center, d) others (please specify)</li> <li>e) Control of the preservation of the original product.</li> </ul>	a) home b) office c) nearest outlet/sale center d) other (please specify)		
15.	Amount of DFDI (in USD) in the last five years in the area of (development of) e-commerce.			
16.	List recent major projects introduced or underway in e-commerce sector.	a) b) c)		
4. In	ternet Access			
1.	Amount of DFDI (in USD) in the last five years in the area of internet access.			
2.	List recent major projects introduced or underway in the mentioned sector	a)		
		4.1 Use of Internet		
3.	Percentage of individuals using the internet for internet banking.	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10%		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul><li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li><li>c) 60% and above</li></ul>		
4.	Percentage of individuals using online learning resources (online courses, material other than a complete online course, educational websites/portals).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
5.	Percentage of individuals purchasing e-books.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		

### Appendix 5: Questionnaire (Full Version)

### **Questionnaire on Digital Divide Gap (Full Version)**

### CAREC Institute Research on Digital CAREC: Analysis of the Regional Digital Gap (Phase 1)

Country (please provide name of survey country): \_\_\_\_\_

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
1. Di	gital Infrastructure		·	
		1.2 Digital Public Services		
1.	Are there any specific national strategies for digital infrastructure development?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not:		
2.	Is there any national legal framework to support digital infrastructure development?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not:		
3.	Percentage of citizens using online public services (obtaining information from websites, submitting forms online).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
4.	Country coverage with 4G networks.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> </ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		60% and above		
5.	E-government users (individuals sending filled forms to public authorities, over the internet, last 12 months, percentage of internet users).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
6.	E-prescription (GPs using electronic networks to transfer prescriptions to pharmacists, percentage of General Practitioners).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
7.	Are there any e-health methods available in your country? List down all.	a) b) c)		
8.	Please describe what are the existing micro small and medium enterprise (MSMEs) innovation and digitalization hubs (techno parks, SEZs), their activities.	a) b) c) d)		
	1.7	2. Integration of Digital Technology		
9.	Percentage of enterprises whose internal business processes are automatically linked (for example, using enterprise resource planning (ERP) software).	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:		

1	2	3	4	5
		Choose appropriate option(s) and	Source of data (name	Comments (can also be
#	Indicator/Questions	add explanation wherever asked	the publication and	described separately in
		for it	URL)	additional Annex)
		a) Up to 10%		
		b) More than 10% but less than		
		60%		
		c) 60% and above		
	Percentage of enterprises using RFID technologies,	Provide percentage here ()		
	by purpose (person or product identification).	and in case exact information is		
		not available, please choose one		
10		of the following options:		
10.		a) Up to 10%		
		b) More than 10% but less than		
		60%		
		c) 60% and above		
	Percentage of enterprises using 3D printing in	Provide percentage here ()		
	various stages of the production process	and in case exact information is		
	(design, manufacturing).	not available, please choose one		
11		of the following options:		
11.		a) Up to 10%		
		b) More than 10% but less than		
		60%		
		c) 60% and above		
12.	Percentage of enterprises using industrial or	Provide percentage here ()		
	professional personal robots in various stages of	and in case exact information is		
	the production process (assembly, warehouse,	not available, please choose one		
	delivery, assistance).	of the following options:		
		a) Up to 10%		
		b) More than 10% but less than		
		60%		
		c) 60% and above		
13.	Percentage of enterprises analyzing big	Source a		
	data, by type of source.	(percentage):()		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		Source b (percentage):() Source c (percentage):() Source d (percentage):()		
14.	Big data analytics by internal/external provider	By internal provider, percent: By external provider, percent:		
15.	Percentage of enterprises sending and/or receiving e-invoices.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
16.	Percentage of enterprises using social media, by purpose.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
17.	Please describe what digitalization programs have been implemented or under implementation in your country, their targets and outputs.	a) b) c)		
18.	Please identify the main players in your country's digitalization drive (telecom companies,	d) e)		

1	2	3	4	5	
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)	
	government agencies, etc.) and their development strategies and plans.	f)			
	1.3	3 Access to Digital Financial Services			
19.	What digital financial products are offered by traditional financial service providers (banks, credit unions, micro financial institutions) that are accessible to a broad range of consumers?	<ul> <li>a) Online/mobile banking</li> <li>b) Payment cards</li> <li>c) Digital credit</li> <li>d) Short and long term loans</li> <li>Others (please specify all)</li> </ul>			
20.	Name few fintech industries providing services (such as, to improve credit scoring, anti money laundering/combating the financing of terrorism (AML/CFT), fraud detection and so on)	a) b) c) d)			
21.	How much funding is available for startups or early stage small businesses?	<ul> <li>a) No funding (specify reasons:</li> <li>a.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>b) Funding is available (please specify amount in US dollars)</li> </ul>			
22.	What is the status of micro financing or lease for individuals? Choose one option	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please specify the duration in years)</li> <li>b) Not available (please specify any hurdles)</li> <li>a</li> <li>b</li> </ul>			
2. Di	2. Digital payments				
1.	Volume of cashless payments, percent				
2.	Volume of purchased goods paid cashless.				

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
3.	Any programs for increasing the volume of cashless payments in your country	a) b) c)		
4.	Number of online purchases and amount spent on buying or ordering goods, services, or content over the Internet.	Number (please specify) Amount (in USD)		
5.	What problems are encountered when buying or ordering goods, services, or content over the internet. Provide a list.	a) b) c)		
6.	Which of the payment methods are the accepted ways to sell and pay for goods on the major marketplaces in your country? List down all.	a) d) e)		
7.	Amount of FDI (in million USD) in the last five years in digital infrastructure (including digital payments).			
8.	Are there fiscal incentives in place to accelerate digital infrastructure investment and development via online (e.g., accelerated depreciation for connectivity infrastructure investments, tax credits for research and development, or loans or subsidies for connectivity infrastructure)?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not:		
9.	Are there digital banking services that help to process financial transactions (financial operations, receiving bank certificates)?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not:		
10.	Are there any digital financial services that provide privilege or subsidies in developing digital payments?	Yes (please provide details): No (please explain why not:		
11.	List recent major projects introduced or under way in the mentioned sector (by government and private sector).	a) b) c) d)		
1	2	3	4	5
-------	--	--	---	---
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
12.	Are there any specific programs or policies aimed at digital economy/digital payment development? Add details of all.	a) b) c) d)		
3. E-	commerce			
		3.1 E-commerce ecosystem		
1.	Percentage of enterprises having a website with e-commerce functions	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
2.	Percentage of enterprises receiving orders for products via websites or apps, by type of web platform (own website or intermediary platforms)	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
3.	Are global marketplaces, such as Amazon, Alibaba, eBay, WISH, available in your country? Name all those available.	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please provide name of all those that are available.</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide reasons for unavailability <ul> <li>a.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>c.</li> <li>c.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
4.	Can SMEs as companies directly register on such marketplaces to sell cross border?	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please provide name of all those that are available.</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide reasons for unavailability <ul> <li>a.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>c.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
5.	Can customers in your country purchase goods from platforms such as Amazon, Alibaba, eBay, WISH?	<ul> <li>a) Yes available (please provide name of all those that are available.</li> <li>b) Not available (please provide reasons for unavailability <ul> <li>a.</li> <li>b.</li> <li>c.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
6.	List the key marketplaces in your country and indicate if they allow to buy and sell cross border.	a) b) c) d)		
7.	List obstacles to selling and buying products online, in general and cross border.	a) b) c) d)		
8.	Percentage of individuals purchasing goods, services, or content over the internet.	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10%		

1	2	3	4	5
		Choose appropriate option(s) and	Source of data (name	Comments (can also be
#	Indicator/Questions	add explanation wherever asked	the publication and	described separately in
		for it	URL)	additional Annex)
		b) More than 10% but less than		
		60%		
		c) 60% and above		
	Types of goods, service, or content most generally	a) Clothes		
	bought or ordered for private use over the internet	b) Electronic devices		
9.	in the last 12 months.	c) Household appliances		
		d) Books		
		e) Others (please specify)		
	Origin of sellers (national, EU, China, rest of	a) National		
	world) of goods, services or content bought	b) China		
10.	or ordered for private use over the internet.	c) United States		
		d) United Kingdom		
		e) Others (please specify)		
	Reasons for not buying or ordering any goods or	a) Security issues (fear of loss of		
	services over the internet.	money)		
		b) Lack of confidence of buying		
11.		online		
		c) Return issues in case of		
		incorrect/unwanted item(s)		
		d) Other (please specify)		
12	Are there any single window platforms (supporting	If yes, please		
12.	online sales) available in your country?	specify		
	Availability of 'green transport corridor' approach in	a) Yes available		
	any part of the transport sector. Pick one option and			
13.	explain.	b) Not available (please provide		
		some reasons of non-		
		availability)		
1/	Legal framework for cross border electronic data	a) Yes available		
14.	exchange between customs			

1	2		3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choo add for it	ose appropriate option(s) and explanation wherever asked t	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		b)	Not available (please provide some reasons of non- availability)		
15.	Is pre-arrival declaration procedure available in your country in electronic format? (As an example, you could indicate rail and road transport procedures while crossing border, indicate time spend at the border, what documents can/can't be provided electronically). Pick one option and explain.	a) b)	Yes available Not available (please provide some reasons of non- availability)		
16.	What are the standards, based on which e-invoice is used in transport sector? List down at least three.	a) b) c)			
17.	What are the most common delivery methods of cross border parcels in your country?	a) b) c) d) e)	DHL DPD UPS FedEx Others (please specify)		
18.	What share (percentage) of major marketplaces using any of international parcel delivery services such as DHL, DPD, UPS and FedEx, operate in your country?	a) b) c) d) e)	DHL (in percentage) DPD (in percentage) UPS (in percentage) FedEx (in percentage) Others (please specify) (in percentage)		
19.	Please describe the common delivery locations for parcel delivery in your country. You may add several options.	a) b) c) d) e)			
20.	How delivery to remote areas happens in your country. Specify sources.	a) b)			

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		c) d) e)		
21.	How the process for buyers to return goods purchased online is processed in your country?			
22.	<ul> <li>Please describe the following areas and involved stakeholders (domestic and global): <ul> <li>a) Number of days to decide whether to keep purchased goods and when does this period start.</li> </ul> </li> <li>b) Reasons and other information provided to seller.</li> <li>c) Key stakeholders that manage the process of backwards delivery back to seller (for example, delivery operators, specialised software).</li> <li>d) Most common locations for customers to drop purchased goods to be delivered back to seller: a) home, b) office, c) nearest outlet/sale center, d) others (please specify)</li> <li>e) Control of the preservation of the original product.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a) One week</li> <li>b) Two weeks</li> <li>c) One month</li> <li>d) Others (please specify)</li></ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		d) other (please specify)		
23.	Amount of FDI (in USD) in the last five years in (for the development of) e-commerce sector.			
24.	List recent major projects introduced or under way in e-commerce sector.	a) b) c)		
	-	3.2 Trust, Security and Privacy		
25.	Experience of security related incidents through using the internet.	<ul> <li>a) Theft of bank credentials/social network accounts</li> <li>b) Using fraudulent or third party unauthorized source</li> <li>c) Any other (please specify)</li> </ul>		
26.	Security concerns limiting individuals from doing certain activities via the internet for private purposes.	<ul> <li>a) Computer virus resulting in loss of information or time</li> <li>b) abuse of personal information</li> <li>c) 'spam'—unsolicited emails sent to address of user</li> <li>d) low speed of internet connection</li> <li>e) other problems (please specify)</li> </ul>		
27.	Types of activity carried out to manage access to personal data and implement security measures	a) b) c)		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
	(that is, use of anti-tracking software by individuals).	d)		
28.	Concerns/knowledge of individuals about cookies and personalized advertising.	<ul> <li>a) Excellent</li> <li>b) Very good</li> <li>c) Good</li> <li>d) Average</li> <li>e) Below average</li> <li>f) No knowledge</li> </ul>		
29.	Percentage of enterprises having an up-to-date ICT security policy.	<ul> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> <li>Note: It's better to not make categories and later we can make categories as per our need.</li> </ul>		
30.	Experience of security related incidents in enterprises (including report of security breaches) in years.	<ul><li>a) Less than 10 years</li><li>b) 10 years or more</li></ul>		
31.	Do you use e-signature for cross border operations? If yes which countries?			
4. In	ternet Access			
1.	Percentage of households using a fixed broadband internet connection at home.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked	Source of data (name	Comments (can also be described separately in
"	indicatory Questions	for it	LIRI)	additional Annex)
2.	Percentage of enterprises using a fixed broadband internet connection, by speed.	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10% b) More than 10% but less than 60%		
3.	Percentage of individuals using mobile devices to access the internet away from home or work.	<ul> <li>c) 60% and above</li> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is</li> <li>Not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
4.	Reasons for not having access to the internet.	<ul> <li>a) computer equipment is expensive</li> <li>b) lack of skills</li> <li>c) no need of it</li> <li>d) access charge is to high</li> <li>e) lack of technical facilities in the territory</li> <li>f) other reasons (specify please)</li> </ul>		
5.	Percentage of households with internet access.	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10%		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul><li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li><li>c) 60% and above</li></ul>		
6.	Percentage of schools with internet access.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
7.	Distribution of computer users by age groups (percent).	<ul> <li>a) Less than 18 years</li> <li>b) More than 18 and up to 30 years</li> <li>c) More than 30 and up to 50 years</li> <li>d) Above 50 years</li> </ul>		
8.	Percentage of computerization of households and enterprises.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
9.	Share of enterprises with internet access in total number of all enterprises, %	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10%		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul><li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li><li>c) 60% and above</li></ul>		
10.	Amount of FDI (in USD) in the last five years in the area of internet access.			
11.	List recent major projects introduced or under way in the mentioned sector	a) b) c) d)		
	F	4.2 Use of Internet	1	1
12.	Percentage of individuals using the internet on purpose	<ul> <li>Provide percentage:</li> <li>a) for sending/receiving emails:</li> <li>percent</li> <li>b) for telephoning (via webcam), video calls over the internet:</li> <li>percent</li> <li>c) for participating in social networks:percent</li> <li>d) for listening to music (e.g., web radio, music streaming):</li> <li>percent</li> <li>e) for watching internet streamed TV (live or catch-up) from TV broadcasters:</li> <li>percent</li> <li>f) for playing or downloading</li> </ul>		
		games:percent g) reading/downloading online newspapers/news magazines: percent		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul> <li>h) for looking for information about goods or services: percent</li> <li>i) for uploading self-created content (text, photos, music, videos, software etc.) to any website to be shared: percent</li> </ul>		
13.	Percentage of individuals using the internet for watching video on demand from commercial services.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
14.	Percentage of individuals purchasing e-books.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>d) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>e) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
15.	Percentage of individuals using the internet for looking for information about goods or services.	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options: a) Up to 10%		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul><li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li><li>c) 60% and above</li></ul>		
16.	Percentage of individuals using online learning resources (online courses, material other than a complete online course, educational websites/portals).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
17.	Percentage of individuals using the internet for internet banking.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
18.	Percentage of individuals using the internet for selling goods or services.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
19.	Percentage of individuals using peer-to-peer web services to sell/rent/exchange goods or services, both as a supplier or as a consumer	Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is		

1	2	3	4	5
#	Indicator/Questions	Choose appropriate option(s) and add explanation wherever asked for it	Source of data (name the publication and URL)	Comments (can also be described separately in additional Annex)
		<ul> <li>not available, please choose one</li> <li>of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
20.	Percentage of individuals looking for a job or sending a job application.	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here</li> <li>() and in case</li> <li>exact information is not available,</li> <li>please choose one of the</li> <li>following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than</li> <li>60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		
21.	Percentage of individuals using storage space on the internet (cloud computing services).	<ul> <li>Provide percentage here () and in case exact information is not available, please choose one of the following options:</li> <li>a) Up to 10%</li> <li>b) More than 10% but less than 60%</li> <li>c) 60% and above</li> </ul>		

No.376 Nanchang Road, Urumqi 830000 Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region People's Republic of China f:+86.991.8891151 km@carecinstitute.org www.carecinstitute.org